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Characteristics of the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquires, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading; (2) there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading; and (3) all opinions expressed in this
report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that
are fair and reasonable.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETRBE

| would like to present to shareholders the annual report
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009.

During 2009, the Group continued to focus its efforts
and corporate resources on energy resource businesses.
Among which, trading of petroleum-related products in
the PRC has been our sole revenue generating business
activities. Though we saw sporadic signs of recovery
during the second half of the year, however, slow down
of the economy from 2008 and oil price fluctuation
during the year continued to limit our trading volume of
the petroleum-related products in 2009. With economic
recovery in sight and crude oil prices stabilized in recent
months, management expects that the prospects of
trading petroleum-related products to improve in 2010.

For the 21% owned Oil and Gas Project in Brunei, the
acquisition of 2D and 3D seismic surveys for 2009 was
completed during the year. A comprehensive basin
analysis study is being conducted. Two exploration wells
will be drilled in the central Belait area in May and July
2010 respectively following completion of the required
seismic and geological studies. It is anticipated that
production will take place in the third quarter following
the drillings. Separate seismic and geological studies
will continue to be conducted to identify other prospects
in the area during the exploration period.

The exploration programs for 2009 of the 89% owned
Gas Project in Central Luzon, Philippines were
progressing smoothly. The comprehensive geological
study was completed in 2009 and seismic data
reinterpretation and prospects evaluation will be carried
out in 2010. The preparation work for drilling is planned
to be commenced later in 2010.

The 64% owned Coal Mine Project in San Miguel,
Philippines has proceeded into the development phase.
The phase one road construction has been completed.
The phase two traffic road assessing the initial mining
area is under construction. Extraction work will begin
upon the completion of the road, which is expected to
be at the end of second quarter of 2010. Large scale
of topographic survey has been conducted to allow the
preparation of operations designs for the commercial
production.

RAAEMSBRRREZEALMBEREEBRQF R
EMBAR(TXRBIAREDBE_TTNAF
TZA=Z+T—RLEFEZER -

AEER-_ZTNFEESEBNRARERESD
REERER - Ep > RPTBEEELHEBER AL
SEM-ELWAZERLZD BEAEERTF
FERAETEEETR HE_FTN\FRHEHRZ
RERERFNRERBBERY —TTNF0H
HEERZIRHE - BELBEERER KT A Rk
EROE EEERREECHERER I RK
E-_Z-TFHHE-

RN EFEF21% HREEME - —TFN
F22DMIDMEFEEHNRECNFATEK - 2
E R DT IEEAETT - RATFH R R E 5%
KR MEBERFIEI IR -_F—FFAARE
H7EBelait B @ ETTHER - BREEKRER
RS =ZFETT - HINE R E MRS BRA
NAEETT - IR ZBERBS EMFARATR

—ERNFMURFRBET B RLER89I% L KAR
HEBZHREFFEERIERN - 2EMEHREER_-F
TAEZK - MEBIRENRE LR R
AR T —TFET - BREFTEFEBR =
T-TFEREFRRRA -

LA FEEE San Miguel X B 64% 2 EIEBEE
HEARBREE - F-HERERETN - E2HA
FEREZRBEREEET - RIRTEBRER
ERERER BHBERER-_Z—ZTFFEF_FTRE
T KABHEAESLEEET URERELEEY
EiEHRE -



Annual Report 2009 —ZZ N F F

Chairman’s Statement
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The Company submitted a formal application to the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong for the transfer of listing
of its shares from the GEM Board to the Main Board in
early 2010. Although the Company has not succeeded
in the application as at the date of this annual report,
the Board is committed to continue to further explore
the feasibilities of the proposed transfer. The Board
considers that such listing is in the interest of the
Company’s long term growth and development. In fact,
the Company is well positioned to capitalize on listing
opportunities that may be available to mining exploration
and development companies in the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong. Upon further progress of our projects
as mentioned in the preceding paragraphs, especially
the expected production of the Oil and Gas Project in
Brunei, the Company will no doubt improve its eligibility
to fulfill the requirements for the proposed transfer of
listing.

During the year, the Group has formed a 60% owned
joint venture company, namely Sinotech Polyard
Petroleum Exploration & Development Research Institute
Limited, with Lanzhou Institute of Geology, Chinese
Academy of Sciences. Through this collaboration the
Group has strengthened the technical support and
management expertise in the mining and exploration
activities which are engaged by the Group.

As the Group will require to continuously fund the Oil
and Gas Project in Brunei, the Coal Mine and the Gas
Projects in the Philippines, the Board has proposed a
rights issue to provide necessary resources for these
projects. Please refer to the Company’s announcement
published on 3 February 2010, and the Company’s
circular and prospectus dated 26 February 2010 and 16
March 2010, respectively.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere gratitude to our management, staff members
and business partners for their devotion throughout the
years. The Company’s Directors and management will
dedicate their best efforts to lead the Group to strive
for the best interests for its shareholders and business
associates in the years to come.

For and on behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group’s
turnover decreased by 82% to approximately
HK$3,916,000 as compared with approximately
HK$21,640,000 in 2008. The Group recorded a
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
of approximately HK$95,157,000 in 2009 (2008:
approximately HK$316,756,000). The current year loss
includes an impairment loss on the Oil and Gas Project
in Brunei of approximately HK$22,000,000 as a result
of increase in the capital expenditure budget and an
impairment loss of approximately HK$34,000,000 on
the Coal Mine Project due to decrease in coal prices.
The substantial loss in 2008 mainly resulted from the
impairment loss on the Oil and Gas Project in Brunei
of approximately HK$243,000,000 and the impairment
loss on goodwill of approximately HK$38,000,000
on the Coal Mine Project. Administrative and other
operating expenses for the year ended 31 December
2009 amounted to approximately HK$17,309,000,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$7,100,000
or 29%, as comparing with last year. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the reduction of legal and
professional expenses in connection with corporate
restructuring and business acquisition.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2009
amounted to approximately HK$25,010,000 (2008:
approximately HK$15,878,000). The increase was
mainly resulted from the effective interest expenses
on the additional convertible bonds in the aggregate of
HK$120,000,000 which were issued in December 2008
and February 2009 in connection with the acquisition of
the Coal Mine Project.
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Liquidity, Financial Resources, Capital and
Gearing

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had net assets
amounted to approximately HK$488 million (2008:
approximately HK$579 million) and net current liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$76.6 million (2008:
approximately HK$33.4 million). The current ratio was
13.4% (2008: 29.1%). The gearing ratio of the Group
based on the net debt to the shareholders’ equity was
89% (2008: 63%).

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in
Renminbi (“RMB”), Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) and
United States Dollars (“US$”) and its revenue, expenses,
assets and liabilities and borrowings are principally
denominated in RMB, HK$ and US$, which do not pose
significant foreign currency risk at present.

Employee Information

The Group had a total number of staff of approximately
50 (2008: approximately 29). Remuneration packages
are reviewed on a periodical basis. Bonus is awarded
to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance. Besides, a share option scheme was
adopted by the Company, pursuant to which the
Directors may offer to any eligible employees (including
executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company and any of its subsidiaries,
options to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the share option scheme.
However, save for the share options granted prior to
the listing, no other options have been granted up
to 31 December 2009. Staff cost was approximately
HK$7.6 million for the year as compared with that of
approximately HK$6 million in 2008.
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Business Review and Prospects
Trading of petroleum-related products

Affected by the slow-down of the world economy from
2008 and price fluctuation in petroleum-related products
in 2009, trading volume of the petroleum-related
products was limited in 2009. In consideration of the
risk factors involved, management has been cautious
in entering into trading transactions and has scaled
down the trading of low profit margin products which
caused the turnover of the operations to decrease by
approximately 82% in 2009, and thereby incurring a loss
of approximately HK$130,000.

With economic recovery in sight and crude oil prices
stabilized in recent months, management expects that
the prospects of trading petroleum-related products
to improve in 2010. Following the completion of rights
issue, additional working capital may be employed in the
operations to capitalize on newly presented business
opportunities. Management is optimistic in the trading
business operations in 2010.

Brunei Block M Oil and Gas Project

The Oil and Gas Project in Brunei has been progressing
in accordance with the budget. During 2009, the
acquisition of 2D and 3D seismic survey over the central
Belait was completed. Processing of seismic data was
completed in December 2009 and data interpretation
has begun in the first quarter of 2010.
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A comprehensive basin analysis study is being
conducted and is expected to complete by end of
the first quarter of 2010. After the data interpretation
and basin analysis, prospect locations will be agreed
between the joint venture partners for drilling of
exploration wells. It is anticipated that two exploration
wells (one in May 2010 and another in July 2010) will be
drilled in the central Belait area and that production will
take place in the third quarter of 2010. Separate seismic
and geological studies will continue to be conducted
to identify other prospects in the area during the
exploration period. The operator, Tap Energy (Borneo)
Pty. Ltd. will continue in pursuing parallel strategies of
appraising the existing Belait field and assessing the
wider potential of this 3,011 KM? onshore block.

Philippines San Miguel Coal Mine Project

The project has proceeded into the development phase.
The phase one road construction has been completed.
The phase two road construction is underway. It will
extend the vehicle-assessable-road into the initial mining
area and is expected to be completed during the second
quarter of 2010, and after that coal extraction from the
open pit will commence.

Large scale of topographic survey and mapping have
been processed and completed. Our experts are in the
process to prepare detailed operations designs for the
commercial production.

Philippines Central Luzon Gas Project

The exploration programs planned for 2009 were
progressing smoothly. The comprehensive geological
study and seismic data reprocessing was completed in
2009.

The work program and budget for 2010 have been
approved by the Department of Energy of the
Philippines. The main exploration activities in 2010 are
seismic data reinterpretation and prospects evaluation.
The preparation work for drilling is planned to be
commenced later in 2010.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEER®RSE

Introduction

The Company had applied the principles and complied
with the code provisions and recommended best
practices set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2009,
by establishing formal and transparent procedures to
protect and maximize the interests of shareholders,
except for the deviation described below.

The number of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors and that of the members of the Audit
Committee decreased below the minimum number as
required respectively by the Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules, following the change of
directorship on 16 May 2009 of Mr. Zhang Xiaobao from
an independent non-executive Director and a member of
Audit Committee to an executive Director. The deviation
was rectified when Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director within the
prescribed period on 30 July 2009 in compliance with
the Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of
dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions in securities of the Company.
Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, each Director
had confirmed that during the year ended 31 December
2009, he had fully complied with the required standard
of dealings and there was no event of non-compliance.
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Board of Directors

The Board, which currently comprises 7 Directors, is
responsible for the Group’s corporate policy formulation,
business strategy planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and
capital transactions, and other significant operational
and financial matters. Details of the Chairman and
the other Directors of the Group are set out in the
section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. All Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is in compliance with Rule 5.05(1) and (2)
of the GEM Listing Rules, and has three independent
non-executive Directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise, except for the
deviation described below.

Throughout the year, the Company has complied with
the requirements of the code provisions set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules except
that the number of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors and the number of members of
Audit Committee decreased below the minimum number
as required by the Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules, following the change of directorship on 16
May 2009 of Mr. Zhang Xiaobao from an independent
non-executive Director to an executive Director. The
deviation was rectified when Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and
member of the Audit Committee within the prescribed
period on 30 July 2009 in compliance with the Rules
5.06 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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With the various experience of both the executive
Directors and the non-executive Directors and the nature
of the Group’s business, the Board considers that the
Directors have a balance of skills and experience for the
business of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
means of electronic communication at least four times a
year. At least 14 days’ notice of regular Board meetings
is given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The
Company Secretary assists the Directors in preparing
the agenda for the meetings, and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations regarding the meetings
are observed.

The attendance records of the individual Directors at the
Board meetings during the year are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KUAI Wei

Mr. LIN Zhang

Mr. CAO Xuejun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (re-designated from independent
non-executive Director on 16
May 2009)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong

Mr. WANG Yanhui

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (re-designated as executive
Director on 16 May 2009)

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (appointed on 30 July 2009)
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the
Group, monitor financial performances and discuss
the annual and interim and quarterly results, as well
as discuss and decide on other significant matters.
Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to
management.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of
each Board meeting by keeping detailed minutes,
including all decisions by the Board together with
concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Drafts of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times as the Chairman ensures that
management will supply the Board and its committees
with all relevant information in a timely manner.
They may make further enquiries if in their opinion
it is necessary or appropriate to request for further
information. They also have unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, who
is responsible to the Board for providing Directors with
Board papers and related materials, and ensuring that
all proper Board procedures are followed and that all
applicable laws and regulations are complied with. If
considered to be necessary and appropriate by the
Directors, they may retain independent professional
advisors at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
discussed through an actual meeting and will not be
dealt with by written resolutions. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be
present at meetings dealing with such conflict issues.
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The Board committees, including the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, have all adopted
the applicable practices and procedures used in Board
meetings for all committee meetings.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Kuai Wei and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Cao Xuejun.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
segregated and not performed by the same individual to
ensure segregation of duties.

The Chairman of the Group is primarily responsible for
the leadership and effective running of the Board, in
formulating the overall strategies of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is primarily responsible for
the running of the Group’s business and implementation
of the Group’s strategies in achieving the overall
commercial objectives.

Non-Executive Directors

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term and
subject to re-election. Independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, Mr. Wang Yanhui
and Mr. Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping, had not entered into any
service contract with the Company or any member of
the Company and are not appointed for a fixed term.
However, the Company’s independent non-executive
Directors are required by the Company’s Articles of
Association to retire from office by rotation at the
Company’s annual general meeting. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.

The independent non-executive Directors are not
entitled to any remuneration, except for a bonus for each
financial year which is at the Board’s discretion and
determined by reference to the Company’s results and
performance for the financial year concerned.
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Remuneration of Directors

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005.
Since 12 December 2007, Mr. Chan Kin Cheong, an
independent non-executive Director, was appointed
Chairman of the Committee. Other members are Mr.
Wang Yanhui and Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping, both are independent
non-executive Directors of the Company.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee
include the determination of the specific remuneration
packages of all executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment, and making recommendations
to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive
Directors. The Remuneration Committee should consider
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Upon the recommendation of Remuneration Committee,
the Board has considered and reviewed the existing
terms of employment contracts of the executive
Directors and considers that the existing terms of
employment contracts of the executive Directors are fair
and reasonable. Details of the attendance of the meeting
of the Remuneration Committee during 2009 are as
follows:

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong
Mr. WANG Yanhui
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping
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Nomination of Directors

No nomination committee is established by the Board.
The Board is responsible for identifying suitable
candidates for members of the Board when there
is a vacancy or an additional Director is considered
necessary. The Board will review the qualifications of the
relevant candidate for determining the suitability to the
Group on the basis of his/her qualifications, experience
and background.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing the Company’s
annual reports and quarterly financial reports and
providing advice and comments thereon to the Board.
The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing
and supervising the Company’s financial reporting
process and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee comprises the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kin Cheong,
Mr. Wang Yanhui and Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping. The number
of the members of the Audit Committee decreased
below the minimum number as required by the Rule
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules, following the change of
directorship on 16 May 2009 of Mr. Zhang Xiaobao from
an independent non-executive Director and a member of
Audit Committee to an executive Director. The deviation
was rectified when Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member
of Audit Committee within the prescribed period on 30
July 2009 in compliance with the Rule 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2009 have been reviewed
by the Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that
such statements comply with the applicable accounting
standards, the Stock Exchange and legal requirements
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year
under review. Details of the attendance of the Audit
Committee meetings are as follows:

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong
Mr. WANG Yanhui

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao
Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and
audited annual results for the year ended 31 December
2009 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which
was of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure have been
made.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The Company has appointed Pan-China (H.K.) CPA
Limited (formerly NCN CPA Limited) as the auditors
of the Group. The Board is authorised in the annual
general meeting to determine the remuneration of the
auditors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2009, a summary
of the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external
auditors is set out below:

RN HE_TEAF T+ _A=T—BIt
FE - AR RINEZEEN R HEZ R IFEZRS
ZEN /AWM AREELIT

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T JEMTF T
Types of services PR iE4E
Audit services BB 350
Non-audit services JEEZ RS 510
Total HBET 860

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements of the Group.
In preparing the financial statements, the general
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have
been adopted, appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied consistently, and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The
responsibilities of the external auditors are set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report to the shareholders of the
Company on pages 35 to 37 of this annual report.

Internal Control

The Board conducts reviews of the Company’s system of
internal control periodically to ensure the effectiveness
and adequacy of the internal control system. The
Company convenes meetings periodically to discuss
financial, operational and risk management controls.
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Executive Directors

Mr. KUAI Wei (&842) , aged 48, is the Chairman and
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Kuai holds a
master's degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia and has over 20 years
of experience in banking, electrical transmission and
transformation equipment and satellite broadcasting.
Mr. Kuai has been involved as a senior management
member for strategic planning, business development,
operation and overall management of various
companies. He joined the Group in July 2007.

Mr. LIN Zhang (#%) , aged 28, holds a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Tianjin University of
Commerce. Prior to joining the Company in November
2007, Mr. Lin worked in the Indonesia branch of Chinaoil
USA (Macao) Company Limited for two years and was
responsible for the petroleum exploitation, development
and related trading business.

Mr. CAO Xuejun (BEE) , aged 64, is the Chief
Executive Officer who holds a bachelor’s degree from
the China University of Petroleum (formerly known as
“The Beijing Petroleum Institute”). Mr. Cao has over 40
years’ working experience in oil and gas development
projects, and participated in several large scale offshore
oil and gas field development projects. Prior to joining
the Company in December 2007, he was the President
of the Shanghai Branch of CNOCC (China) Ltd. Mr. Cao
was also a visiting scholar in Alabama State University,
United States of America and has been engaged as a
consultant in a subsidiary of the Company since June
2007.
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Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (FREEE) , aged 52, holds a
bachelor's degree in geology from Changchun Institute
of Geology, a master's degree in sedimentology and a
PhD degree in natural gas geochemistry from Chinese
Academy of Sciences. In 2004, he took a position of
associate chief geologist in the Research Institute
of Petroleum Exploration and Development, Qinghai
Qil Field, Chinese National Petroleum Corporation.
During his 30 years’ research experience, he has been
responsible for over 20 programs and published over 30
papers. Mr. Zhang has been appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 16 May 2009.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WANG Yanhui (E##8) , aged 47, holds a master’s
degree in Public Administration from Harvard University
and a doctoral degree in Management from Xi’an
Jiaotong University. He was a senior Economist and also
an adjunct professor in Xi'an Jiaotong University. Mr.
Wang is now the vice president of Shenzhen Ping An
Bank (formerly known as Shenzhen Commercial Bank).
Mr. Wang has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since December 2007.

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong (FR#£8) , aged 44, has over 8
years working experience in accounting and auditing. Mr.
Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in Quantitative Analysis
for Business and a master’'s degree of Professional
Accounting and Information Systems from City University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is an associate member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chan has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since December
2007.
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Mr. Pai Hsi-ping, aged 52, obtained his bachelor’s
degree in International Trade from National Chen-
Chi University, Taiwan. He has over 21 years working
experience in management and is currently a Chief
Executive Officer of a consultancy company in
Taiwan. Besides, he held directorship and other major
appointment in three listed public companies in Taiwan.
From June 2006 to now he has been a Director of Taiyen
Biotech Company Limited. In addition, he was a Director
of Formosa Plastics Corporation during the period
from June 2006 to March 2008 and the Chairperson of
Far East Air Transport Corporation for the period from
April to May 2008. Mr. Pai has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since July 2009.

Senior Management

Mr. CHENG Yun Sing (¥88m) , aged 76, has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company
since November 2007. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Public Accountants,
and has been practicing as a Certified Public Accountant
for more than 37 years.

Mr. LAI Chun Liang (R R) , aged 45, joined Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as an Executive Vice
President in 2003 and was appointed as the Chief
Operating Officer in 2009. He holds a bachelor's degree
in electronic engineering. Prior to joining the group,
he had over 10 years’ experience in development of
angiocarpy monitoring instrument and research on
GPS and navigation system. He has more than 10
years’ of experience in operations and management of
companies.
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Mr. Au King Cheong, aged 52, was appointed as the
Vice President, Legal Department of the Company in
April 2009. Prior to joining the Group, he was a senior
management for multi-national corporations and banks.
He has over 20 years of experience in finance, legal
laws and management. Mr. Au is an associate member
of Hong Kong Bar Association and Hong Kong Securities
Institute.

Mr. QIN Han Sheng (E£4%) , aged 47, joined Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. as a Senior Geologist
of the Technical Team since December 2007. Mr. Qin
has over 22 years’ working experience in exploration for
oil and gas in China National Petroleum Corporation of
China and was responsible for 18 petroleum exploration
projects.

Mr. ZHOU Jin Tang (E® %) , aged 46, joined as a
Geoscientist of the Technical Team of Polyard Petroleum
International Co., Ltd. since December 2007. Mr. Zhou
has over 23 years’ petroleum exploring experience and is
well versed in geochemical and geophysical techniques.

Mr. ZHANG Yong Qiang (3R7K3&) , aged 42, joined as
a Reservoir Engineer of the Technical Team of Polyard
Petroleum International Co., Ltd. since December 2007.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Zhang participated
in Reservoir Accurate Description project for Shahejie
Formation of Liuzan OQilfield in Jidong Oilfield in 2004
and Deep Gas Exploration Potential project of Niuju
Qilfield in 2005.
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The directors would like to submit their report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2009.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the
exploration of coal, oil and natural gas and trading of
petroleum-related products. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance for
the year by business and geographical segments is set
out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Results

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 38.
Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in note 30 to
the financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and

equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.
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Convertible Bonds

Details of movements in the convertible bonds of
the Company are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the
Company are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a prorate basis to existing shareholders.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years ended 31
December 2009 is set out on page 152 of the annual
report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Securities
During the year ended 31 December 2009, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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Connected Transaction

The Board announced on 3 February 2010 that on 28
January 2010, the Company and Silver Star Enterprises
Holdings Inc. (“Silver Star”) entered into the Underwriting
Agreement in relation to the underwriting and certain
other arrangements in respect of the proposed Rights
Issue. For details of the terms and conditions of the
Underwriting Agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcement issued on 3 February 2010.

At the date of this report, Silver Star is a substantial
shareholder holding 1,333,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 24.65% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Besides, parties
acting in concert with Silver Star are holders of the
convertible bonds issued by the Company. Thus, the
transaction has constituted a connected transaction
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Post Balance Sheet Events
Proposed Share Consolidation and Rights Issue

Subsequent to the year end, the Company announced
to propose a Share Consolidation and Rights Issue.
The proposed Share Consolidation will be on the
basis that every five issued and unissued shares
be consolidated into one Consolidated Share. The
Company also proposed to raise approximately
HK$108.16 million before expenses, by way of Rights
Issue of 2,704,000,000 (540,800,000 after the Share
Consolidation) Rights Shares at the subscription price
of HK$0.04 (HK$0.20 after the Share Consolidation) per
Rights Share for every two shares held on the Record
Date.

For details of the Share Consolidation and Rights
Issue, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 3 February 2010, and the Company’s circular
and prospectus published on the GEM website on 26
February 2010 and 16 March 2010, respectively.
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Proposed Transfer of Listing

The Company had submitted a formal application to the
Stock Exchange on 6 January 2010 for the proposed
transfer of listing of the shares from GEM to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange based on Chapter 9A of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

On 11 March 2010, the Company received a letter from
the Stock Exchange which stated that the Company did
not fulfill the listing eligibility requirements under Rules
18.02(1) and 18.09(8) of the Listing Rules and decided
to reject the Application.

Pursuant to Rule 2B.05(1) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has the right to have the Decision reviewed by
the Main Board Listing Committee. As at the date of this
annual report, the Board is seeking legal and financial
advices on the Decision and has not yet decided
whether to have the Decision to be reviewed by the Main
Board Listing Committee or not.

For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements published on the GEM website on 6
January 2010 and 11 March 2010.
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Share Options

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26
June 2002 for the purpose of providing incentives to
the directors and eligible participants, under which
the Company may grant options to the Directors
and employees of the Group and also other eligible
participants to subscribe for shares of the Company.
Certain directors and participants have been granted
options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares at an exercise price of HK$0.002
per share. All of these share options granted were
exercised or lapsed in or before 2008.

No share option under the Share Option Scheme
adopted by the Company was granted, exercised or
lasped during the year.

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were set
out in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 5 July
2002.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. KUAI Wei (Chairman)

Mr. LIN Zhang

Mr. CAO Xuejun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (re-designated from independent
non-executive Director on 16 May
2009)

fBIRE

RRARNZEZTZF N A Z+75 B R AR I8 8 R
FTEIATEAIE R AMBRATERET S R
fRiEstEl D) UERBEZFREERZEE - AQF]
AREBZEHEMNEAEEEZTREEAREMEER
B2RERDERE  URBEXARFKRG - RIESH
RAFRBRAERETE  ETESRS2HEEDE
WRERE  MiEGREK0.002 T 2 TEERER
B MBZEERLZBREEN _ZEZNFARK
ZRIETTE SRR ©

RER - BEEEBERIEA R R FTRA 2 BRI
BERH - TR -

éx/’t’&ﬁrﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%%%%Z%I EININ/NS] S
EZ_FHARBATIEZBRER -

=

ARRNFAREEAREERZESTOT

BITES:

SEREE(ZE)

MERE

BEEEEL

REEEE (RW_ZEENFAAF N NARBLI

BITEFEET)




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHEAHEMEBEER AR

Report of the Directors

EERE

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. CHAN Kin Cheong

Mr. WANG Yanhui

Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao (re-designated as executive
director on 16 May 2009)

Mr. PAI Hsi-Ping (appointed on 30 July 2009)

By virtue of articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s

Articles of Association, Mr. Kuai Wei and Mr. Chan Kin

Cheong will hold office until the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company, and being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election at that meeting.

By virtue of article 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Pai Hsi-Ping, who was appointed as
independent non-executive Director on 30 July 2009, will
hold office until the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, and being eligible, offer himself for re-
election at that meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Kuai Wei entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of one year on 16 January 2008
which may be terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other not less than three calendar months’ prior
notice in writing and was renewed automatically on 16
January 2009 and 16 January 2010. Mr. Kuai is entitled
to have a monthly salary of HK$30,000.00 which was
determined with reference to market rates. He is also
entitled to a bonus for each financial year which is at the
Board’s discretion and determined by reference to the
Group’s results and performance for the financial year
concerned.
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Mr. Cao Xuejun entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of one year on 1 June 2008
which may be terminated by either party thereto giving
to the other party a prior notice in writing of not less
than three calendar months or paying to the other
party three months’ salary and was renewed on 1 June
2009 for a term of two years commencing on 1 June
2009 which may be terminated by either party thereto
by giving to the other party a prior notice in writing
of not less than one calendar month or paying to the
other party one month’s salary. Mr. Cao is entitled to
a monthly salary of RMB40,000.00 for 12 months per
annum, plus professional allowance of RMB23,344.00,
special allowance of RMB20,000.00 together with
traveling and communication allowance of USD$300.00
which were determined with reference to market rates.
In addition, the Company is required to pay any salaries
tax on behalf of Mr. Cao for any income derived from his
service provided for the Company.

Mr. Lin Zhang was appointed by the Company for a term
of one year commencing 1 November 2008 which may
be terminated by either party thereto giving to the other
not less than three calendar months’ prior notice in
writing and was renewed automatically on 1 November
2009. Mr. Lin is entitled to have a monthly salary of
HK$25,000.00 for 13 months per annum which was
determined with reference to market rates. He is also
entitled to a bonus for each financial year which is at the
Board’s discretion and determined by reference to the
Group’s results and performance for the financial year
concerned.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors
who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Biographical details of directors and senior
Management

Biographical details of Directors of the Company and
senior management of the Group are set out on pages
19 to 22 of the annual report.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and/or Short Positions in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2009, there were no interests
and short positions of Directors and chief executives
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”)), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules relating to the securities transactions by
Directors.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short
positions of persons, other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company, in the shares and/or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group,
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register
of substantial shareholders required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of
shares held
FERHBEE

(Note 1)
(et 1)

Name of person

AT £

Lam Nam

M

1,333,000,000(L)
(Note 2)
(K17t 2)

642,679,607(L)
(Note 4)
(Kizt4)

2,500,000,000(L)
(Note 3 and 4)

(Bet3 X 4)
Silver Star Enterprises 1,333,000,000(L)
Holdings Inc.
(Note 2) (ff1:t2)

China International Mining
Holding Company
Limited (Note 3)

EIERER IR AR QA
(Fet3)

2,500,000,000(L)
(Note 4)
(Kizt4)
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54 BAEZT DL
Interest of a controlled 24.65%
corporation
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Beneficial owner 11.88%
EmEEA
Interest of a controlled 46.23%
corporation
2k NG 2
Beneficial owner 24.65%
EmEAA
Beneficial owner 46.23%
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long positions in shares or
underlying shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Silver Star Enterprises
Holdings Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Nam.

3. The entire issued share capital of China International
Mining Holding Company Limited is beneficially owned by
Mr. Lam Nam.

4. These shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds
issued by the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2009, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or, who is directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group,
or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or
short positions were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or of any other body corporate granted to
any Directors, their respective spouses or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire such rights in the Company or any other body
corporate.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, approximately 100% and 57% of the
Group’s total purchases of materials were attributable
to the five largest suppliers and the largest supplier
respectively.

During the year, approximately 100% and 57% of the
Group’s total sales were attributable to the five largest
customers and the largest customer, respectively.

None of the directors, their respective associates or any
shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company) had any interests in the Group’s
five largest suppliers or customers.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and
within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed
that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the
Company’s issued shares at the latest practicable date
prior to the issuance of this report.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors, the management shareholders or
substantial shareholders of the Company (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group.
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Auditors

The financial statements for the year have been audited
by Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited (formerly NCN
CPA Limited) who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Kuai Wei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2010
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
POLYARD PETROLEUM INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited set out
on pages 38 to 151, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at
31 December 2009, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit and to report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend
on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2009
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

PAN-CHINA (H.K.) CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road,
Central, Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

23 March 2010
Choi Man Chau Michael
Practising Certificate Number: P01188
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
E_EENFEF = A= —HIFFE

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HieE BT BEFT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEREEK
Turnover - 5(a) 3,916 21,640
Cost of sales SHERK A (3,858) (21,378)
Gross profit EF 58 262
Other revenue and net income g ROFIRA 5(b) 126 1,124
Administrative and other operating TR EMEERT
expenses (17,309) (24,409)
Operating loss e e (17,125) (23,023)
Finance costs RLE A A 7 (25,010) (15,878)
Impairment loss on interests in RERE R Rl < B R R
associates 17 (34,265) =
Share of results of associates FEALER & A RIER 17 (5) —
Impairment loss on interests in RERIEG B B2
jointly controlled entities R EE R 18 (21,571) (243,204)
Impairment loss on goodwill EE 2R ERE 20 — (38,210)
Loss before tax PR AT A8 8 (97,976) (320,315)
Income tax FTiS i 9 2,752 1,222
Loss for the year from continuing NEERFELEEB
operations o 3ti=! (95,224) (319,093)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS BRIEEE £
Profit for the year from discontinued AEE DR QL ¥
operations i ) 6 — 401
Loss for the year REEEE (95,224) (318,692)
Attributable to: L
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIEZ 2= DN (95,157) (316,756)
Non-controlling interests FEFE ) | R (67) (1,936)
(95,224) (318,692)
Loss per share BRER 12
Basic (in HK cents) B GEM)
— from continuing and discontinued =~ — & K& 1E
operations TS (1.76 cents ) (5.86 cents 1)
— from continuing operations — BEQEER (1.76 cents {l) (5.86 cents fll)
Diluted (in HK cents) g GBIl
— from continuing and discontinued — — FHERE & 1E
operations TS N/A REH N/A TE A
— from continuing operations — PFELEE N/A & H N/A i@ A
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

meEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BE—TFNF+—A=1—HFZ

HK$’000 HK$°000
B F T BT T
Loss for the year rEEEE (95,224) (318,692)
Other comprehensive income: Hip 2wk -
Exchange difference arising on MEBINSEPTEEZ
translation of foreign operations EH Z%E — 89
Total comprehensive income AEEZENGEAE
for the year (95,224) (318,603)
Attributable to FEAG
Owners of the Company AAREA A (95,157) (316,681)
Non-controlling interests FEE bl I p 2 (67) (1,922)

(95,224) (318,603)
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BHAKEREEGRAR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REEERER

As at 31 December 2009
R-FEAFF+=A=+—H

Notes

HK$°000

{0[0}:]

—TT)\F
HK$000

Hiat BT T JBEMF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS BN EE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RE MR E 15 840 1,003
Interests in associates REEE N A 17 47,645 81,915
Interests in jointly controlled entities 7+t [@ 15 4l &F B £ 25 18 858,151 856,118
Deferred exploration expenditure R M ERA 19 6,384 —
913,020 939,036
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Amounts due from associates and i Ui B 5 8 ) % R )
jointly controlled entities TR 22 7,603 6,072
Trade and other receivables JRE WS BR R e L A R KR TR 23 1,005 1,075
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITAR 24 3,212 6,600
11,820 13,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES REaE
Trade and other payables JE {1 BR K e HL At A5 SR IE 25 (88,466) (47,183)
Amount due to a director JENEEFE 26 = (2)
(88,466) (47,185)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEEE (76,646) (383,438)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABAE
LIABILITIES 836,374 905,598
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREAE
Convertible bonds ATRRES 27 (339,205) (315,378)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE 28 (9,056) (11,007)
(348,261) (326,385)
NET ASSETS EEFE 488,113 579,213
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRAR &
Share capital A& Zx 29 10,816 10,816
Reserves EE 30 476,733 567,806
Equity attributable to owners of RABIER NEEER
the Company 487,549 578,622
Non-controlling interests E e e 564 591
TOTAL EQUITY R 488,113 579,213
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of KEEENRZ ZE=F -+ =AM REET
Directors on 23 March 2009. Ef o
KUAI Wei LIN Zhang & wE
Director Director EFE o
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Statement of Financial Position

EERER

As at 31 December 2009
R-FEAFF+=A=+—H

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI~ BB R &E 15 115 159
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR 2% E 16 24,895 24,895
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E e 21 593,456 738,677
618,466 763,731
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade and other receivables JFE UK AR 5% R EL Ath i U SR IR 23 752 886
Cash and bank balances B & RIRITAE#R 24 70 10
822 896
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables FE A5t RR R S EL At P A 3R IR 25 (20,898) (13,700)
(20,898) (18,700)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFE (20,076) (12,804)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRE
LIABILITIES aE 598,390 750,927
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 (339,205) (315,378)
Deferred tax liabilities FEBIEAE 28 (9,055) (11,007)
(348,260) (326,385)
NET ASSETS BEE 250,130 424,542
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARFE
Share capital & < 29 10,816 10,816
Reserves s 30 239,314 413,726
TOTAL EQUITY HRES 250,130 424,542
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of REE@N TFE=ZA-t+=BZEREET
Directors on 23 March 2009. Ef) o
KUAI Wei LIN Zhang eR42 ME
Director Director EE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MREEmBER

For the year ended 31 December 2009
B ETNFf A= —HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREAES
Convertible Non-
Share Share Special  Exchange Warrant bonds Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
e RiyEE RHRE EXRR RRERRE TRRESRRE  REEN 5 FEHtRR E o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥Fr  B¥Fr B¥Fr B¥Tr B¥Tr EETr EBEFr EBEFn EBETL EBETL
At1 January 2008 R-ZENE-A-R 10,816 359,974 985 209 4,423 17,730 456,795 850,932 2,016,672 2,867,604
Total comprehensive income for the year —~ AEE2ANEEE - - - 75 - - (316,756) (316,681) (1,922) (318,603)
Issuance of convertible bonds on WEHRARES
acquisition of interests in a mETTERES
subsidiary - - - - - 53,420 - 53,420 - 53,420
Deferred tax liabiies on issue of ETaRES
convertible bonds BREHEAE = - - - - (8,814) - (8,814) - (8,814)
Deferred tax effect on change in tax rates ~ BiE&57 Btz = - - - - k] - 3 - 34
Non-controlling interests arising WERRARERE L
on acquisition of interests in a pa i
subsidiary = = = = = = = = 545 545
Release of exchange reserve on disposal ~ HEHBAFEER
of a subsidiary ERGH = - - (269) - - - (269) - (269)
Non-controlling interests eliminated on RECEBANE
acquisition of additional interests in F2ENBAR
non-wholly owned subsidiaries under BMERRHH
corporate restructuring Falid - - - - - - - - (2014704)  (2,014,704)
At 31 December 2008 RZZTNE+=A=1-A 10,816 359,974 985 15 4,423 62,370 140,039 578,622 591 579,213
At1 January 2009 R-ZEAE-A-R 10,816 359,974 985 15 4,423 62,370 140,039 578,622 591 579213
Total comprehensive income for the year —~ AEE2ANEEE - - - - - (95,157) (95,157) (67) (95,224)
Issuance of convertible bonds to EOTAREANZN
satisfy balance of consideration WE-BHEBLA
for acquisition of interests in a EmfELER
subsidiary - - - - - 4,890 - 4,890 - 4,890
Deferred tax liabiiies on issue of BTERER 2
convertible bonds EhaakE - - - - - (806) - (806) - (806)
Non-controlling interests arising on issve ~ HEAFRTRAEEZ
of shares by a subsidiary FsER - - - - - - - - 40 40
Release of warrant reserve upon lapse of  {TEERE AR
exercise period DRERGE - - - - (4423) - 4423 = = =
At 31 December 2009 RZFENET=A=1-A 10,816 359,974 985 15 - 66,454 49,305 487,549 564 488,113
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n_\éiﬁl$‘;ﬁ:§%

For the year ended 31 December 2009
B2 —TTNFF+=—A=+—HIFE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFTT B FT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Loss before tax BBt A B8 (97,976) (319,914)
Adjustments for: PR
Interest income IS ON (3) (820)
Interest expenses BT H 25,010 15,878
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — KT B A Rl 2 Wk = (415)
Depreciation e 280 262
Share of results of associates i AN E S 5 =
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEM AR 2 BB B 18 = 14
Impairment loss on goodwill BRI EEE = 38,210
Impairment loss on interests in associates RERE N R 2 RER R 34,265 —
Impairment loss on interests in jointly REEREH F RS 2
controlled entities REEE 21,571 243,204
Operating loss before movements in working LEESEHF 2
capital K ER (16,848) (23,581)
Decrease in trade and other receivables JFEE LT B 5K R L A FE T
IR A 70 8,336
Increase in amounts due from associates and ~ JEUCEE L A T & H E R4
jointly controlled entities EBE BN (1,531) (1,527)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  J&1s R 5 & EL4th i <F
FagEm, Ogid) 53,284 (34,726)
Cash generated from/(used in) operating ICEEIEFTE S (FTHRE)
activities Be 34,975 (51,498)
Tax paid [EERE 2 (6) (30)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) REEBHE (FTE)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFE 34,969 (51,528)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received on bank deposits BEUERITERAE 3 820
Investment in jointly controlled entities RERZGHIEEZHEE (23,604) (4,537)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BENKEE (117) (1,088)
Payments of exploration expenditure R R (6,384) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and  H&EW% - FERREZ
equipment FriS 518 = 25
Disposal of subsidiary S BT A Al — 155
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEEFERSFEHE (30,102) (4,625)




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

BHAKEREEGRAR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= e~ =1
mERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2009
E_EENFEF = A= —HIFFE

HK$’000 HK$’000
BETFIT Vot v
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEES
Interests paid BAFLE (8,293) (8,291)
Additional investment in subsidiaries by non- FiBIEEH R
controlling interests M8 A Rl 2 BINEE 40 —
Advance from/(repayment to) directors kA (ER)ESBR (2) 2
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REZEFERESEE (8,255) (8,289)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND BeRBESEEYRL BE (3,388) (64,442)
CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FOzHER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR ReZEY 6,600 70,967
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNIESTE R B v RO = 75
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF F#&2ZH&R
THE YEAR ReZEY 3,212 6,600
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH BEREESEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R DT
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTAE 3,212 6,600
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IEERR Mo

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E_EENFEF = A= —HIFFE

General Information

Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section of the annual report.

These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, the functional currency of the
Company.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the exploration
of coal, oil and natural gas and the trading of
petroleum-related products.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new standards, amendments and
interpretations (“New HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), which are or have become effective.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,

(Amendments) Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
HKAS 32 & 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and
(Amendments) Obligations Arising on Liquidation

—REH

AR REREESRAR (AR AHS
BEHMA AEREERAT  HRONE
BEA R SFERAREILIR L5 o KRR
SR ERR T B S % o REN R
DEER 8 o

MBHBRTIAARBZNEEEEEZT -

ARBREMBAR(TARE]) 2 T EXEK
RERER - BRRRARLEE G HERE

o
am °

FE R #TR] R ARMERT B R M I 3 5 22 A
([EBHBHREER )

RAFE  AEECEATIHIEEGTMAE
MAMIRERE LERZFETER - EFT AR
2RE((HEEMBRE L) -

BREHEAE 1R MR 25
(BE3T)

ERGEAR 2 EERA
(&&7T)

EAMBREENE KR RMBLA  ARENERS
BEETHENSE TR BN RERA
(BFTE)

BEETHENERER  IHELRIARBEREL
1R (BITE) ZEfE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IEERR Mo

For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

E—ET S FEf = = —HIFFE

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvement to HKFRSs issued in
2008, except for the amendments to
HKFRS 5 effective for annual periods
beginning on or after
1 July 2009
HKFRS 2 (Amendment)  Share-based Payment - Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)  Financial Instruments: Disclosures -
Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate
Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16

The application of the New HKFRSs has
no material impact on the Group’s financial
statements, for those New HKFRSs that are
consistent with policies already adopted by the
Group, except as discussed below.

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 1 (Revised),
details of changes in equity during the period
arising from transactions with equity owners
in their capacity as such have been presented
separately from all other income and expenses in
a revised consolidated statement of changes in
equity. All other items of income and expense are
presented in the consolidated income statement, if
they are recognized as part of profit or loss for the
period, or otherwise in a new primary statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Corresponding amounts have been
restated to conform to the new presentation. This
change in presentation has no effect on reported
profit or loss, total income and expense or net
assets for any period presented.

FERF T RAEETERMBHRERER
(TEBMBREER ] (F)

ERMBHREEA R-FZR\FRMHERHH
(B#TK) FEENZ W - EBHE
BERAFS KL BIAR
“ERNELA-AIM
Rl 2 FRHRAN
EAUBREENZ 2R ROz — BBESR
(BFTK) Rt
ERMBAEEANETR  MBIE: BE — REAE
(B3TX) BBIAZRE
EEMBAREENESR LEH
FR(ERMBAERRE  EPRHE

Z82)— 2EZ13%

EEERMBRERE  RHERERS
£E88)— 2BE15%

B (ARUERERE  IEELFRESR
ZEE)— REF16%

HREAREERNZBR R ZNBEMBER
SEAME - ERAHFEEUBREERNGRE
B BRRYBEATE T XAwRE
BRI o

KRB B e ERFE 1 REEE - BHAR
SRR A AET IR SMEL Z EnEE)
ER-BRRETZRARSEHRANEMEE
AR HIA B D27 - A EmBA R
XHBEREESERARAEY (RS TIHE
RRPRNERZ — M) IRFTERHRES
EEMERANES - HEZESBE TREED
AREaHE25AR - 27X 2 kW |EE
258 2 Pr2 MBS - BRA R HTF
BEBREMZE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IEERR Mo

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BE—TENFF+=—A=1—HIFE

2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The Improvements to HKFRSs comprise a
number of minor and non-urgent amendments
to a range of HKFRSs which the HKICPA has
issued as an omnibus batch of amendments. Of
these, amendments to HKAS 28, Investments
in Associates, have resulted in changes to the
Group’s accounting policies as to impairment
losses recognised in respect of the associates
and jointly controlled entities carried under the
equity method that are no longer allocated to
the goodwill inherent in that carrying value. As a
result, when there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount, the impairment loss will be reversed.
Previously, the Group allocated impairment losses
to goodwill and, in accordance with the accounting
policy for goodwill, did not consider the loss to
be reversible. In accordance with the transitional
provisions in the amendments, this new policy will
be applied prospectively to any impairment losses
that arise in the current or future periods and
previous periods have not been restated.

As a result of the adoption of the amendments
to HKFRS 7, the financial statements include
expanded disclosures about the fair value
measurement of the Group’s financial instruments,
categorising these fair value measurements
into a three-level fair value hierarchy according
to the extent to which they are based on
observable market data. The Group has taken
advantage of the transitional provisions set out
in the amendments to HKFRS 7, under which
comparative information for the newly required
disclosures about the fair value measurements of
financial instruments has not been provided.

FER T RAEETERMBHRERER
(TEBMBREER ] (F)

EEMBREEN 2 BEBEREESHAIA
SROE B AP BRELEREL 2 — K584
NIBBOIEZERT - B BEGTERNE
28RIEF] KRR RAZRE EHAKHE
ZEFTHREBRER IR RBER

518k 2 B & A B R R I B BB R R E
BB EZRBREEAS ZAE - Fit -
11 P A B8 72 mJ Mo [ BB 2 f o B8R L 3R I [ &
B AUREEE/FRED o AE - AEBERR
BEEEIEERE YARBEHBEZEHK
K APERZEEANEENE - RIBZEFTZ
BRI RABR KRR EARAHER
AR 2 (EDRERE - AEHE 2 £ FAIL
BEY -

RERMEEMBRELENE 7R EFTARIE
M RRAFEAU B TARTEFEZERE
RBE - URRABRZMERBEEZEAT
BFFEARTFESEREIEDEX=EFR - &
SECNABEBHBEMEENE7RAE 2B
RIS - Bt - WERERAEVBTAR
FEABZMBEEREZLBER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

2.

E—ET S FEf = = —HIFFE

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

HKFRS 8 requires segment disclosure to be
based on the way that the Group’s chief operating
decision maker regards and manages the Group,
with the amounts reported for each reportable
segment being the measures reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of assessing segment performance
and making decisions about operating matters.
This contrasts with the presentation of segment
information in prior years which was based on a
disaggregation of the Group’s financial statements
into segments based on related products and
services and on geographical areas. The adoption
of HKFRS 8 has resulted in the presentation of
segment information in a manner that is more
consistent with internal reporting provided to
the Group’s most senior executive management.
Corresponding amounts have been provided
on a basis consistent with the revised segment
information being identified and presented.

The Group has not early applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations that have been issued but not yet
effective.

FER T RAEETERMBHRERER
(TEBMBREER ] (F)

FREMBREERF 8B B2 WEEIA
AEEZEFERERARANEZEBREEAKE
B2 ERER  ZFE2|OMMEHRL
BEERAAKEEFQERRAMEHAM
HiF GO MRBALRRLETEREHRRZER
EAE—I o L BB FEREAAERRE M MRS
AR R AR E 2 SRR E DRE DB
DEHEMERITABMER - RATEMBEH
SEAELT  CEBNBEMNZ2IIAH
REFAEEZRSTHERABZARHREE
R - HESBEREMBR L2502 &E
FIDERER B B -

AEEHARFRA THICRMERRERZ
Al RARIERTER - (BRI A RE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2009
BE—TENFF+=—A=1—HIFE

2. Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

FER T RAEETERMBHRERER
(TEBMBREER ] (F)

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008
HKFRSs (Amendments)  Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures®
HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements'”
HKAS 32 Classification of Rights Issues”
(Amendments)
HKAS 39 Eligible Hedged Items"!
(Amendments)
HKFRS 1 Additional Exemptions for First-time
(Amendments) Adopters®
HKFRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based
(Amendments) Payment Transactions®
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations'”
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments"”
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of Minimum Funding
(Amendments) Requirement®

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners'”

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity®
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2009
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

July 2009 and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
February 2010

() Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
July 2010

&) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2013

BAMBRSEN(BITA) BAUBREENFESTL
AR fEBR=FEN\F
Btz B AT REEA 2
-5
BARBREEN(BITAR)  RETNEBRAZEENER
SR 7
ERSIHENSE 45 (RET) BEALHE®
BAGHEAS 7 R(LEY]) BARBUHBRR"
EASHEAS NG (BTN #RoEY
EREENS 205 (BiA) ALGREHRERD
BAMBRSENE R BERRREZ BT
(fB3TA)
BAMBREENE 2R SEURSEE 2RI
(fBFIA) x5%
BN REENEIR £BAHD
(18(531)
BAMBRSENER BHIAD
BE(ERIBRE2E BEEAS TR BNFHEC
ZEE)—REFUR
(fBFIA)
B (ARUERERE AEEADEEREAE"
ZEE)— REFITH
A (ERHRERE WRAEETHEEE®

ZE2)— REE19%

O R-TEAFLA-BRUARAKRZEES
AR

®  R-ZTAEFLA-BR-Z—TF—A—
B (R FERIBERME) KA KRG Z FEH
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AR

0 RZT-—=F—F BN ERRZFEES
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2.

Application of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect
the accounting for business combination for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual reporting period beginning on or
after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect
the accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary. The directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of the
other new and revised standards, amendments or
interpretations will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces
new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets and will be
effective from 1 January 2013, with earlier
application permitted. The standard requires
all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured
at either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that (i) are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at fair value.
The application of HKFRS 9 might affect the
classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the other new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations will have
no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

FER T RAEETERMBHRERER
(TEBMBREER ] (F)

FERE BB MEEREIREERT) ARER
BRERHUR-_TTNFLA - BHARRAR
ZHE—AFEREHEPNIARZEBH GO
BAtRIE - BB ERE27REER) K
TEJARNMBRARAEEERESH 2 &5t
BRIE - NAREERTRY - A MR REE
FIER] - BRIASREBR TS HAKE 2 XA
KEABHRNBRERZE

BRVBMELERNEIRU B TR ATKE
ENBEAHAEZHRE  BH_FT—=F—A8
—HEEN  XAFFRFER - ZENRER
BEFERNEIRUB TR AL EHR
BN A C RN B EEREHKAKAF
BE LEEOREDRANREARER W
NEBRABFAZEBRE - R(i)EEAK
RIXNHRENEAE ZANREREZEBHR
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BAREBEZATEFE - BETEYBRELE
AIE SRR EREBM B EE 2 DB KA
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). In addition, these financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of these financial statements is the historical
cost basis except for certain property, plant and
equipment, interests in jointly controlled entities
and financial instruments, which are measured at
revalued amounts or fair values.

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (entities
controlled by the Company). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated income statement from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with
those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets
of consolidated subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group’s equity therein.
Non-controlling interests in the net assets
consist of the amount of those interests at
the date of the original business combination
and the non-controlling interests’ share
of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests in excess of the non-
controlling interests in the subsidiary’s
equity are allocated against the interests of
the Group except to the extent that there is
a binding obligation of the non-controlling
interests who are able to make an additional
investment to cover the losses.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b)

Business Combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted
for using the purchase method. The cost
of the acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the fair values, at the date
of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations are recognised at their fair
values at the acquisition date, except for
non-current assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Noncurrent Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are
recognised and measured at fair value less
costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised
as an asset and initially measured at cost,
being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest
in the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised. If, after reassessment, the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost
of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(b)

()

Business Combinations (Continued)

The non-controlling interests in the acquiree
are initially measured at the proportion
attributable to the non-controlling interests
in respect of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the relevant subsidiary at
the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
an acquisition of an associate or a jointly
controlled entity represents the excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of
the relevant associate’s or jointly controlled
entity’s net assets at the date of acquisition.

Capitalised goodwill is presented separately
in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(c)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is
allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment on
acquisition and at the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro
rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in
the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an
associate or a jointly controlled entity, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Investments in Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the
Company. Control exists when the Company
has the power, directly or indirectly, to
govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential
voting rights that presently are exercisable
are taken into account.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses,
unless it is classified as held for sale.

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities

An associate is an entity over which the
investor has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Joint venture arrangements that
involve the establishment of a separate entity
in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to
as jointly controlled entities.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(e)

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a jointly
controlled entity is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the
equity method and is initially recorded at
cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-
acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the associate’s or the jointly controlled
entity’s net assets, unless it is classified
as held for sale. The consolidated income
statement includes the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
associates and jointly controlled entities
for the year, including any impairment loss
on goodwill relating to the investments in
associates and jointly controlled entities
recognised for the year.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds
its interest in the associate or the jointly
controlled entity, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or the jointly
controlled entity. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest in the associate or the jointly
controlled entity is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the jointly
controlled entity.

3.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(e)

()

Investments in Associates and Jointly
Controlled Entities (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and jointly controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associate or jointly controlled
entity, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments
in associates and jointly controlled entities
are stated at cost less impairment losses,
unless they are classified as held for sale.

Accounting for Production Sharing
Contracts

Production sharing contracts constitute
jointly controlled operations. The Group’s
interests in production sharing contracts are
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements on the following bases:

(i) the assets that the Group controls and
the liabilities that the Group incurs; and

(i) the share of expenses that the Group
incurs and its share of income from
the production according to the terms
stipulated in these contracts.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the sale is highly probable
and the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at
the lower of the assets’ (disposal groups’)
previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods
sold and services provided in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and
sales related taxes.

(i) Income from sale of goods are
recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed.

(i)  Service income is recognised when
services are provided.

(iii) Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding using the effective interest
rate method.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(h)

()

Revenue Recognition (Continued)

(iv) Dividend income from investments is
recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment have been
established.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost or valuation less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses.

Any revaluation increase arising on
revaluation of property, plant and equipment
is credited to the revaluation reserve, except
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation
decrease of the same asset previously
recognised as an expense, in which case
the increase is credited to the consolidated
income statement to the extent of the
decrease previously charged. A decrease in
net carrying amount arising on revaluation of
an asset is dealt with as an expense to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on
the revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the
attributable surplus is transferred from
revaluation reserve to retained profits.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

()

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, if any, using the
straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives commencing on the date of
completion of construction for the intended
use, at the following rates:

Plant and 3'/,% to 20% per annum

equipment

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expected useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets or,
where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item) is included in
the consolidated income statement in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

)]

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is
recognized as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred. Expenditure on
development activities is capitalised if
the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to
complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials,
direct labour, and an appropriate proportion
of overheads and borrowing costs, where
applicable. Capitalised development
costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by
the Group with finite useful lives are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Expenditure on internally
generated goodwill and brands is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite
useful lives is charged to profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. Period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

3.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

)]

(k)

Intangible Assets (Other than Goodwill)
(Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while
their useful lives are assessed to be
indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful life
of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed
annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the
indefinite useful life assessment for that
asset. If they do not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of
change and in accordance with the policy for
amortisation of intangible assets with finite
lives as set out above.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are
recognized as assets of the Group at their
fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability
to the lessor is included in the balance
sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the lease obligation
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are charged directly to profit
or loss, unless they are directly attributable
to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
general policy on borrowing costs.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(k)

U]

Leases (Continued)

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Interest in leasehold land is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Foreign Currencies

The individual financial statements of each
group entity are presented in the currency of
the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (its functional currency).
For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position
of each entity are expressed in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of
the Company and the presentation currency
for the consolidated financial statements.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

U}

Foreign Currencies (Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the
individual entities, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At each balance sheet
date, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are included
in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part
of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognised in equity in the
consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in equity,
in which cases, the exchange differences are
also recognised directly in equity.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

U}

Foreign Currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and
liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using
exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated
significantly during that period, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are included in the exchange
reserve as a separate component of equity.
Such exchange differences are recognized
in profit or loss in the period in which the
foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the
rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising are included in
the exchange reserve.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FESHEBX#AE)
(Continued)

(m) Mineral Exploration and Evaluation

(m) BRMENIRK FAEFAX

Expenditure

Ongoing costs of acquisition, exploration and
evaluation are capitalised as tangible assets
in relation to each separate area of interest
in which rights to tenure of the area of
interest are current and in respect of which:

(i) such costs are expected to be
recouped through successful
development and exploitation of the
area or alternatively by their sale; or

(i) exploration and evaluation activities
in the area have not yet reached the
stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence of
economically recoverable reserves, and
active and significant operations are
continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are
assessed for impairment when facts and
circumstances suggest that the carrying
amount of an exploration and evaluation
asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

All exploration permits are treated as
separate areas of interest.

Once an area of interest enters a
development phase, all capitalised
acquisition, exploration and evaluation
expenditure is transferred to exploration
costs within property, plant and equipment.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FESHEBX#AE)
(Continued)
(n) Borrowing Costs (n) BERE

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until
the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
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profit or loss in the period in which they are miER
incurred.
(0) Employee Benefits (o) EEEF

(i) Short Term Employee Benefits
and Contributions to Defined
Contribution Retirement Plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(o) Employee Benefits (Continued)

(i)

Share-based Payments

The fair value of share options granted
to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options,
the total estimated fair value of the
options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

(0)

Employee Benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Share-based Payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to
vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is included in profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount
is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
when, and only when, the Group
demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility
of withdrawal.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(p)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of
the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit as reported in the income statement
because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences
between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(p)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated
at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with
in equity.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible
Assets Other than Goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under other
standard, in which case the impairment loss
is treated as revaluation decrease under that
standard.

3.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible
Assets Other than Goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under other standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that standard.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
financial report prepared in compliance with
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting are
not reversed at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates even
if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of that financial
year.

3.

FREHBERE)

(a)

BEUSNZERREREERE(E)

R EE R LR - BE(IREES
B) 2 REER RS ELERT 2 EFA
WoeEE BN RAETNEREE
(HREELEEM)RRNAEFEIL E
ERRABEERCREE BRIFEHE
ENRBEMENZSHESEAR - ©
BEESRT - R (E B R B B AR R a2 E A
EfREERE  SRREBBERD S
RN EE N FERR o

BREBSTERE 345 MBS
MRl I SRS P R 2R EE 1R
TERZTHPHZABEMBRERELSE
R - BMERAREERZ T RFE
RERBEFEETERIABERERR



Annual Report 2009 = Z Z i, F F 3{

Notes to the Financial Statements

B IEERR Mo

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BE—TENF+=—A=1—HIFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises
direct materials and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less all estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet when the Group becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(0

(i)

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts except where
the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting would not be material. In
such cases, the receivables are stated
at cost less any impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts.

Investments

Investments are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis
where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the investment
within the timeframe established by the
market concerned.

Investments which are non-
derivatives with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that
the Group’s management has the
positive intention and ability to hold
to maturity are classified as held-
to-maturity investments and are
measured at subsequent reporting
dates at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, less any
impairment losses recognised to reflect
irrecoverable amounts.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Investments (Continued)

Investments held for trading are
classified as investments at fair
value through profit and loss and are
measured at subsequent reporting
dates at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Investments which are non-derivatives
and classified neither as held-to-
maturity investments nor investments
at fair value through profit and loss
are classified as available-for-sale
investments and are measured at
subsequent reporting dates at fair
value. Changes in fair value are
recognised directly in equity, until
the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is
removed from equity and recognised
in profit or loss. Impairment losses
are recognised in profit or loss. For
available-for-sale equity investments,
impairment losses will not be reversed
in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits,
and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and are
subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Bank Borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and
overdrafts are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the settlement or
redemption of borrowings is recognised
over the term of the borrowings
in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Convertible Bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the
Company that contain both the liability
and conversion option components are
classified separately into respective
items on initial recognition. Conversion
option which will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of
the liability component is determined
using the prevailing market interest
rate of similar non-convertible debts.
The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible bonds
and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to
convert the loan notes into equity,
is included in the convertible bonds
reserve as a separate component of
equity.

In subsequent periods, the liability
component of the convertible bonds
is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option
to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bonds reserve
until the conversion option is exercised
(in which case the balance stated
in convertible bonds reserve will be
transferred to share premium). Where
the option remains unexercised at
the expiry date, the balance stated
in convertible bonds reserve will be
released to the retained profits. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss
upon conversion or expiration of the
option.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(s) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the
issue of the convertible bonds are
allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the
allocation of the proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component
are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability
component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability component
and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method, unless the effect of discounting
would not be material, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Consideration paid to repurchase the
Company’s own equity instruments are
deducted from equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. FESHEBX#AE)
(Continued)
(t) Financial Guarantees, Provisions and (t) HBER BRERIREE
Contingent Liabilities
(i)  Financial Guarantees (i) BIBER

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial
guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be
reliably estimated) is initially recognised
as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such
consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised
in profit or loss on initial recognition of
any deferred income.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. XESHBX#AE)
(Continued)
(t) Financial Guarantees, Provisions and () HBER BERIAREEEE)

Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Financial Guarantees (Continued) (i) BIBERGE)

The amount of the guarantee initially NP ERBBELTERAZERES
recognised as deferred income is RERBAAEEREN  FRE
amortised in profit or loss over the HE SRR Z WA o AN - fiJ (1)
term of the guarantee as income EREBAEURERERTZ
from financial guarantees issued. In AEE: RQRAEEZHRKEE
addition, provisions are recognised TR BRI R ZIERZ EN
in accordance with note 3(t)(iii) if and BR SR N CE b FE A SR IE (BN ¥ FE R
when (1) it becomes probable that the Z &R RMBETEE) - AIBER
holder of the guarantee will call upon P 5 3(t) (i) FERR ©

the Group under the guarantee, and (2)
the amount of that claim on the Group
is expected to exceed the amount
currently carried in trade and other
payables in respect of that guarantee,
i.e. the amount initially recognised less
accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Contingent Liabilities Acquired in (i) REBEHPUREBEZZARERE

Business Combinations

Contingent liabilities acquired as part EREBEH o WE 2K
of a business combination are initially RBEBEVNTUNRAFERR  HEA
recognized at fair value, provided the TFETREMAEETE o REM
fair value can be reliably measured. NP EDFERE  ZEXAE
After their initial recognition at fair BN P EREERER 2 25
value, such contingent liabilities are B - LA RARIR B E 3(t) (i) B B
recognised at the higher of the amount CHEIZREEER RNEBKEH
initially recognised, less accumulated R 2 A B EERBE A S
amortisation where appropriate, and FrEAF(E - BB E M 3(t) (i)
the amount that would be determined BEE o

in accordance with note 3(t)(iii).
Contingent liabilities acquired in a
business combination that cannot be
reliably fair valued are disclosed in
accordance with note 3(t)(iii).
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3. Significant Accounting Policies 3. XESHBX#AE)
(Continued)
(t) Financial Guarantees, Provisions and () HKER BERIREEHE)
Contingent Liabilities (Continued)
(iii) Other Provisions and Contingent (iii) EMBERXALE
Liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the AR EEERBEEHARERKEET -
Group has a present obligation as a mEEITZEERAIETEZER L LER
result of a past event, and it is probable # HEEEH AT SE (A at - RMERR A - W
that an outflow of economic benefits eEKEBEEN  BESURERTE
will be required to settle the obligation ETRERTE X 2 B ETIER o

and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Present obligation is disclosed as fisi ] B S 7B 7 A B R 25 A B AT B AT
a contingent liability where it is not B EHERET S A SEAE - AIIRE
probable that an outflow of economic EREBRBERINEE - RATSEMHE
benefits will be required to settle FREGEEABEESTEE—TBKS
the obligation or the amount of the BARREMBEZAIRET  BRIELH
obligation cannot be measured with FZE 7% I 0] g2 AR - & R 7[R B 1 B
sufficient reliably. Possible obligation REABE -

that arises from past events and whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed
as a contingent liability unless the
probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

(u) Related Parties

A party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(i)  The party, directly or indirectly through
one or more intermediaries, (1)
controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (2)
has an interest in the Group that gives
it significant influence over the Group;
or (3) has joint control over the Group;

(i)  The party is an associate;
(iiiy The party is a jointly controlled entity;

(iv) The party is a member of the key
management personnel of the Group or
its parent;

(v) The party is a close member of the
family of any individual referred to in (i)
or (iv);

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled,
jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides,
with directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) The party is a post-employment
benefit plan which is for the benefit of
employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

FREHBERE)

(u) PBIERH

—IHRERERNEEARE - fi

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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3. Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

v)

Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of
each segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments
are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar
in respect of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

4. Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates

(a)

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies, management has made
the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations as discussed below,
which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

3. FEEFEEE)

v)

2 EWE

RESBRABHREMERE D HEE
ZEBRDEERRHTAKRERSITR
EEABZMBEMPEINGE - Ui
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MM BREMS - BIED BEBEUL
ERBAREERRRFEE - £ET

FIEE - EFPRASER - BESEE
mERHRE 2 T EREERREES
AU FRISEEALEDHBIHE

TRE - EARFERZEENE - HE
e LAREARE - AIRETRE -
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4. Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(a) Judgments (Continued)

(0

(i)

Impairment of Assets

In determining whether an asset
is impaired or the event previously
causing the impairment no longer
exists, the management has to
exercise judgment in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred
that may affect the asset value or
such event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of
the asset or derecognition; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow
projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the
assumptions selected by management
to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the
impairment test.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax is provided for using
the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

BEXREFHHERAMER(E)

H R (&)

()

(ii)

BERE
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BREZENHRETBEER
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(@)

Judgments (Continued)

(i)

Income Taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised
for unused tax losses carried forward
to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available
against which the unused tax losses
can be utilised, based on all available
evidence. Recognition primarily
involves judgment regarding the
future performance of the particular
legal entity or tax group in which
the deferred tax asset has been
recognised. A variety of other factors
are also evaluated in considering
whether there is convincing evidence
that it is probable that a portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will
ultimately be realised, such as the
existence of taxable temporary
differences, tax planning strategies
and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised. The carrying
amount of deferred tax assets and
related financial models and budgets
are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and to the extent that there
is insufficient convincing evidence
that sufficient taxable profits will be
available within the utilization periods
to allow utilisation of the carry forward
tax losses, the asset balance will be
reduced and charged to the profit or
loss.

4.

BEXREFHHERAMER(E)

(a)

H R (&)

(ii)

Fris s

ERERBEERGEE 2 RBAHR
BEERM T AR - HERREM
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TUREHE/R BREBHRZ
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(b)

Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the
future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

(0

Impairment Test of Assets

The management determines whether
an asset is impaired at least on an
annual basis or where an indication
of impairment exists. This requires
an estimation of the value in use of
the asset. Estimating the value in use
requires the management to make an
estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the assets and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

4.

BEX

(b)

BB R AR (E)

R Z AR E

KT RREEBBRARKMG REME
EHFRBRZAARAERR 2 EERK -
ZEBR S RAHAEER TEM K F
BEzBEERAREREEFIERARZ
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(i) EERER
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4.

Critical Accounting Judgments and
Estimates (Continued)

(b)

Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Income Taxes

The management reviews the carrying
amount of deferred tax assets at
each balance sheet date and reduces
the amount to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax assets to be
utilised. This requires an estimation of
the future taxable profits. Estimating
the future taxable profits requires the
management to make an estimate of
the expected future earnings of the
Group and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of the earnings.

Depreciation of Property, Plant and
Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account of their estimated
residual value. The determination of
the useful lives and residual values
involve management’s estimation. The
management assesses annually the
residual value and the useful life of the
property, plant and equipment and if
the expectation differs from the original
estimate, such a difference may impact
the depreciation in the year when the
estimate is changed and in the future
periods.

4.

BEXREFHHERMER(E)

(b)

R Z AR E

(i)

(iii)

Fris s
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5. Revenue 5. Wz

(a)

An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the (a) AEBZAFEEEESWNOT ¢
year is as follows:

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Continuing operations BEQEER
Sales of petroleum-related products & A H B/ E T 3,916 21,640
An analysis of the Group’s other revenue and (b) ANEEZARFEHEAM W RFRA ST
net income for the year is as follows: W

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEFT
Continuing operations BHEKEER
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 3 820
Consultancy fee income BRI E R — 304
Sundry income IR A 123 —
126 1,124
Discontinued operations CBRIEEE
Sundry income LSRN GN — —
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HERB AR Z et — 415

126 1,539
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6. Disposal of Subsidiary

The Group disposed of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
Yunnan Kanstar High Tech Products Development
Company Limited, and the business of

6. HEMEBAR

AEEELERENBRAREmMEENRIME

development, manufacture and sale of pulps and

paper products was discontinued in 2008.

An analysis of the financial effects arising on the

disposal is as follows:

HEMEEZHBRES

mAEBRAR - M - SUEREEFRNE
P2 EBER T N\FRIEEE -

WranR :

2008
—TENE
HK$’000
BEFT
Net assets disposed of: Rt &2 FEE ¢
Trade and other receivables JE U5 AR R e L A FE WU R IR 20
Cash and bank balances RE RRITHER 45
Trade and other payables FE AT BR R 2 EL At A5 R IE (11)
54
Release of exchange reserve HE 5, {5 e ) (269)
(215)
Total consideration, satisfied by: BRE - NI R
Cash RE 200
Gain on disposal & Y as 415
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEMEEZREMAFE
Cash received 2R S 200
Cash and bank balances disposed of FrtE 2 RE MIRITAR (45)
155
Profit from discontinued operations: BRI E G 2 m A -
Revenue Uz =
Expenses X (14)
Loss before tax BR A B 1B (14)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary S B A Al 2 Was 415
Profit for the year from discontinued operations — ZN4FEE B4R FEL %5 2 %7 401




Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited

BHAKEREEGRAR

Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSRRI ot

For the year ended 31 December 2009
BE—TENFF+=—A=1—HIFE

7. Finance Costs

Continuing operations

BELEEY

2009

7. BERE

Discontinued operations Consolidated
BALEREEY &e
20 2009 2009
il

“ZZhE N “EENE N —EENE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT  BETT  BETT BEFrT BETT BT
Interest on amount due to ENEEARNE
a related company ZFIE 2 - - - 2 =
Effective interest on convertible BRES
bonds EERHE 25,008 15,878 - — 25,008 15,878
25,010 15,878 - — 25,010 15,878

8. Loss Before Tax

Loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

Continuing operations

8. KRBAER
BBATEIBEMNBRIATIRE

Discontinued operations Consolidated

BESEER BRIEEEEK =4
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EENE —ZT\F ZEEAE “ZERE ZZT)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFr  BEFT  BETm BETr BEFn EET
Staff costs (including directors’ BIMA
remuneration) (BEEZNS)
— Salaries and other benefits — He REMET 7,594 5,799 - — 7,594 5,799
— Retirement scheme — BRI
contributions 93 36 - — 93 36
7,687 5,835 - — 7,687 5,835
Auditors’ remuneration PGl
Audit services BLR 390 350 - — 390 350
Non-audit services FEGRH 120 510 - - 120 510
510 860 - — 510 860
Depreciation of property, NE - BERXENE
plant and equipment 280 262 - = 280 262
Operating lease payments for THREF EERE
land and buildings A 1,641 1,682 - — 1,641 1,682
Impairment loss on trade YR 2 REER
receivables - — - 14 - 14
Carrying amount of inventories sold &z SEE(E 3,858 21,378 - = 3,858 21,378
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9. Income Tax 9. MBH

Consolidated

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

BESELR BRIEEEER &a

2009 2008 2009 2009

ZEEhE £ ZEENF ’ “EENE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT  B¢TT  BETr BEFr BEFr BETr

Current tax; REHE

— Hong Kong — &R = = = = = =
— Other jurisdictions — Hip AR (6) (30) = = (6) (30)
Deferred tax T 2,758 1,252 - — 2,758 1,252
Income tax credit for the year AEEMEHES 2,752 1,222 - - 2,752 1,222

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of
16.5% (2008: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax at the rate of 25% (2008: 25%).
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Deferred tax for the year represents tax income
recognized on reversal of temporary differences
arising from convertible bonds.

No deferred tax has been recognized on losses
for the year of approximately HK$7,491,000 (2008:
Nil) due to unpredictable stream of future taxable
profits that will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilized.

There was no material unprovided deferred tax
charge for the year (2008: Nil).

EBFNERDEANFEE A ERTE R IE
16.5% (ZZEZN\F : 16.5%) 2 HRFTH -

B A A EIR25% (ZEE )\ F : 25%)
REBAPRCEMESH - REMBAIAERE
S RIBEEERAER 2 BITHEE o

AN JE 7 IR R IR 3 ph [ AT SR AR (B 25 P EE A
Hir R HBERA -

FR 7 AT R FE % I8 5 18 K 88 2 Ak 2K FE AR AR 0 A
ZRIREELATEAR » M ERAFEEIELS
#7,491,000 THERELEHRIB(ZZZT )\ F :
) o

AEFLWMEAR LB BEEREL (=
ZENE @)
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9.

Income Tax (Continued)

The taxation for the year is reconciled to the loss
per the consolidated income statement as follows:

9. FEH(AE)

REFHIBEGE WK 2 BEERIAT ¢

HK$’000 HK$’000
BYFTT BT T
Loss before tax: FR i Al ES 1R -
Continuing operations RESE XD (97,976) (320,315)
Discontinued operations BRI T = 401
(97,976) (319,914)
Notional tax credit on loss before tax, REBEAERBERTE
calculated at the tax rates applicable in FTEZBREATEE
the jurisdictions concerned BERNEES 15,944 55,001
Tax effect of share of results of el NI E -
associates MIEHE 1 =
Tax effect of impairment loss on interests  FAE# & A BlHEzE 2 BEE B
in associates IR E (3,559) —
Tax effect of impairment loss on interests A LRI &I T a8 2
in jointly controlled entities BEERE R E (5,654) (40,129)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DA A 2 RIS s & (4,166) (10,802)
Tax effect of non-taxable income EERTMAZ RIS 2 150 =
Tax effect of losses not allowable TRINFEE 2 s 2 (1,292) (2,856)
Tax effect of allowable losses not RER AR 18 2
recognised MisRE (1,268) —
Tax effect of other temporary differences  Hfth KRR LR =452
not recognised M8 2,596 8
Income tax credit for the year REEMEHER 2,752 1,222
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10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

()

Directors’ Emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of
the 7 (2008: 6) directors are as follows:

10. EEREEEHH

()

ESHM

EXNEEXNTFLR(ZFENF X
RIEEZHMOT ¢

Salaries Retirement
and other scheme
benefits  contributions
ek
HtEA  BREHEER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFT BEFT BYFT BEFT
Executive directors: HIES:
CAO Xuejun BEE — 1,163 — 1,163
KUAI Wei &z — 387 — 387
LIN Zhang WE — 352 — 352
ZHANG Xiaobao (note a) RIEE (ffita) - 53 - 53
Independent non-executive BAERIT
directors: %
CHAN Kin Cheong iz S - - - -
WANG Yanhui THE — — - —
ZHANG Xiaobao (note a) RIEE (ffata) = — - -
PAI Hsi-Ping (note b) BIRRE(Hiztb) = = - -
— 1,955 — 1,955
Notes: Hiat

(a) Mr. ZHANG Xiaobao held office as an
independent non-executive director of the
Company up to 16 May 2009 when he was
appointed as an executive director of the
Company.

(b) Mr. PAI His-Ping was appointed as an
independent executive director of the
Company on 30 July 2009.

(a) FREBREEERRABILIENTE
EE_TTAFHEATE  ERE
RERARARMTES -

(b) HBREER-_ZZEAFLA=+H
BRERRABBIFRITES -
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10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments 10. EEREEFMZ)
(Continued)
(i) Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) (i) EEFMW(E
2008 ZETN\E Salaries Retirement
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
HeRk
ik Hivighl RGBS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

AT BT BT AT

Executive directors; WTES:
KUAI Wei - — 363 — 363
LIN Zhang wE — 272 2 274
CAO Xuejun E2E — 1,157 — 1,157

Independent non-executive B JFE 1T

directors: -

CHAN Kin Cheong Bigs 15 - — 15
WANG Yanhui FHE 15 — — 15
ZHANG Xiaobao REE 15 — — 15

45 1,792 2 1,839
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10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments
(Continued)

(ii) Of the 5 individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, 2 (2008: 2) are
directors of the Company. The emoluments
of the 3 (2008: 3) non-director individuals are
as follows:

10. EEREEFMZ)

(i)

AEERLBREFMALS  WE(=F
TN\F MR AAAAEE - RE=A
(ZETNE: SR FEHEALZHH
mT

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Salaries and other benefits e REAMER 1,549 1,272
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIEE IR 12 18
1,561 1,290

The emoluments of those 3 (2008: 3)
non-director individuals with the highest
emoluments are within the following bands:

REA(CTT\EF ZR)FHEEE
EFALZHIANT T5IH0E -

Number of individuals

A

2009 2008

—2BhE  —TT)\F

HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 BH 0T 28 %1,000,0007T 3 3
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11. Loss Attributable to Owners of the 11.

Company

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of
the Company for the year ended 31 December
2009 includes a loss of HK$29,926,000 (2008:
HK$23,853,000) which has been dealt with in the

financial statements of the Company.

Reconciliation of the above amount to the
Company’s loss for the year is as follows:

ERBREEAEGER

HE_ZTZAEF+_A=1+—BLFEE"
ARABEEANEGLEEEBEEBREEBEEAER
29,926,000 ;0( === )\ F : &% 23,853,000
T0)  ZEEERARRZMBEMERANEE

HPRFBRARNR 2 AFEBEHEFEMOT

HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Amount of consolidated loss RARE I EREA
attributable to owners dealt with in BRIR 2B A
the Company’s financial statements LREEESR (29,926) (23,853)
Impairment losses on amounts due FE BT B A RIFIE 2
from subsidiaries BB EE (149,478) —
Consultancy fee income charged to ECIENGIEE
subsidiaries WA 908 —
Company’s loss for the year (Note 30) AR Rz AREZEIE(H:+30) (178,496) (23,853)
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12. Loss Per Share 12. BREE
The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per ERERREEEBEBRE THSIRTE

share are based on the following data:

HK$’000 HK$°000
BYFTT BT T
Loss for the year from continuing and RAEIRERER A
discontinued operations attributable REEFBERD LI
to the equity owners of the Company LR 2 B1E (95,157) (316,756)
Less: B
Profit for the year from discontinued REEDRILKEXER
operations il = 401
Loss for the year for the calculation AERELEER 2
of basic loss per share from SRREREBMEA 2
continuing operations KREEEE (95,157) (817,157)
Number of shares & E ’000 ’000
Fi FHR
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning ~ RE#) 2 2317 @R
of the year 5,408,000 5,408,000
Effect of shares issued during the year FREBITROZFE = =
Weighted average number of ordinary STHEEBREREEMMEA
shares used in the calculation of Z INEEF 1 EmARE B
basic loss per share 5,408,000 5,408,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares ##/ZE Zi@ik 2 & 2,476,712 488
Weighted average number of ordinary TESREEEEMEA
shares used in the calculation of Z T @R E B
diluted loss per share 7,884,712 5,408,488
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12.

13.

14.

Loss Per Share (Continued)

Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares on
convertible bonds and warrants is considered to be
nil as the average market price of ordinary shares
during the relevant periods is below the conversion
price of the convertible bonds and the exercise
price of the warrants.

The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31
December 2009 and 2008 has not been disclosed
as the potential shares arising from the conversion
of the convertible bonds and exercise of the
warrants would decrease the loss per share of the
Group for the year, and is regarded as anti-dilutive.

Dividends

No dividend has been paid or proposed for the
year (2008: Nil).

Segment Information

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-makers that are used to make
strategic decisions.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group
has 2 reportable segments — (1) exploration
of coal, oil and natural gas and (2) trading of
petroleum-related products. These segments are
managed separately as they belong to different
industries and require different operating systems
and strategies.

12. BREEE)

BR A B AR R B AR 2 F T R R AT A
B HRERBREE ZITEE - WA R
B RBREEMS MBS EEEBR T E
REBE °

BRI MR ES RITERREEESE &
ERMO RO AERERAFEE 2 ZREBRMEK
BRRES  BYERBBE_FTTNAFR-
ERNF+ A=+ RIFEZSREEE

18 o

13. RE
AEEIHERNIRZBRNTRE(ZZEN
FE)

14. 2 HEHR

5

AREREFERERRAMBERNZ REETH
REDE » ZBEMETIAAEH R IMERE ©

&
b

BE-_ZTZNAFT-_A=T-BHLFE F&
EAEMERSESH — (1) BEER - ABREK
AR Q) BEEAMBEMER - HRNKED #
BRTRTERFTEZTRLE ZR LK - 8§

DHEERE -
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14.

Segment Information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
had 3 reportable segments — (1) exploration of
coal, oil and natural gas, (2) trading of petroleum-
related products and (3) trading of pulps and
paper products. These segments were managed
separately as they belonged to different industries
and required different operating systems and
strategies. In July 2008, the Group disposed of the
trading of pulps and paper products business.

There were no sales or other transactions between
those reportable segments.

An analysis of the Group’s reportable segment
revenues, results, assets, liabilities and other
selected financial information is presented below.

14.

DERRER (E)

HEZZZNF+-A=+—HILFE - &%
BA=EmEDE — (1) BFEER - A kX
AR QEEOMERER ARG EEH
REMm - BRZEDBEBRTRTERTE
TRKERGREKE  RORER - R-FTF
NELA  AEFBHEERRR R AMES -

ZERENMBULBBEESEMRS -

AEERED MRS KB BE - AERHE
EEFEER 2T 25T o
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14. Segment Information (Continued) 14. PEERE)
(a) Reportable Segments (a) WmEDW
Segment revenues and results P EBM R A

Exploration Trading of
of coal, petroleum-
oil and related

natural gas products
> EERH
HHER

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ ’009
BEFT BYTT BYEFT

Turnover: B

Revenues from external customers REINBEP 2 Wiz — 3,916 3,916
Interest income FI2MA 1 2 3
Other revenues Hioliam 4 - 4
Total income LNt 5 3,918 3,923
Reportable segment loss before tax BEDE 2 BREIATEE (6,841) (130) (6,971)
Unallocated corporate income ADEEZERA 119
Unallocated corporate expenses ) Em%ﬁﬂi ) (10,273)
Impairment loss on interests in P R Al R 2 BB

associates (34,265) (34,265)
Impairment loss on interests in jointly RERZEHEEER .

controlled entities WEEETE (21,571) (21,571)
Share of results of associates MBS AREE 5 5
Interest expense FERZ (25,010) (25,010)
Loss before tax BRI (97,976)
Income tax FiEH 2,752 2,752
Loss for the year AEEER (95,224)
Segment assets and liabilities SHMEERERE

Exploration Trading of
of coal, petroleum-
oil and related

natural gas products

% BERH
HHER

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

BEFT BEFT BEFT
Assets: BE |
Segment assets DBEE 9,081 1,096 10,177
Interests in associates N NGl T 47,645 = 47,645
Interests in jointly controlled entities ARSI s 858,151 = 858,151
Unallocated corporate assets ADMEEEE 8,867
Total assets BEE 924,840
Liabilities: &
Segment liabilities HEBE 375,226 - 375,226
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBEEEE 61,501

Total liabilities BAE 436,727
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14. Segment information (Continued) 14.

(a)

Reportable Segments (Continued)

Other segment information

Exploration
of coal,
oil and

natural gas
BRAR -
BHRRAR

BEFT
Depreciation neE 213
Capital expenditure BARX 67

HK$°000

DERRER (E)
(@) HBEIBHE)
At EH

Trading of
petroleum-
related
products Total

st
HK$’000

Unallocated

ADE

HK$°000 HK$’000

BETT BETT BT
- 67 280
— 50 117

Segment revenues and results

Continuing
=

Exploration

of coal,
oil and

HK$'000

petroleum-

HK$'000

ZEWEE R FEE

Discontinued

ations
¥

operations
Trading
pulps and
paper
products

related

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BEFT BEFIT BEFT BEFT BEFT
Turnover: BEH
Revenues from external RENIEPZ
customers Wigz — 21,640 21,640 — 21,640
Interest income FIEBA 816 4 820 — 820
Other revenues H e — — — — —
Total income WAL 816 21,644 22,460 — 22,460
Reportable segment loss EDHZBHA
before tax BB (4,093) ) (4,003) 401 (3,602)
Unallocated corporate income  KATEEMA 304
Unallocated corporate RAREERT
expenses (19,324)
Impairment loss on goodwill B2 ZREER (38,210) (38,210)
Impairment loss on interests  FA R4 R ER
in jointly controlled entities LREEE (243,204) (243,204)
Interest expense MEFRZ (15,878) (15,878)
Loss before tax BEAEE (319,914)
Income tax fiig=ei 1,002 1,222
Loss for the year TEEEE (318,692)
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14. Segment information (Continued) 14. PEERE)
(a) Reportable Segments (Continued) (a) |EDI(E)
Segment assets and liabilities DHEERERE

Discontinued

ations
BERK
Trading of
petroleum-
related

products

Tradmg of
pulps and

paper
products

Exploration
of coal,
oil and
natural gas

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BEFT BETT
Assets: BE:
Segment assets PEHEE 7,489 1,217 8,706 = 8,706
Interests in associates REE R AR 81,915 — 81,915 — 81,915
Interests in jointly REREHEE
controlled entities R 856,118 — 856,118 — 856,118
Unallocated corporate RAREREE
assets 6,044
Total assets BAE 952,783
Liabilities: B
Segment liabilities AHEE 355,809 13 355,822 - 355,822
Unallocated corporate RAREEAR
liabilities 17,748
Total liabilities BEfE 373,570
Other segment information B 5 e E&#

Discontinued
Continuing operations operations
Exploration Trading of Trading of
of coal, petroleum- pulps and
oil and related paper
natural gas Unallocated  Consolidated
‘ BERH
EBER e vy
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Vi A E¥T BFTT BFTT AETT ARTT
Depreciation ik 189 1 190 - 7 262
Capital expenditure BRRY 809 - 809 - 279 1,088
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14. Segment information (Continued)

(b)

Geographical Information

The following table sets out information
about the geographical location of (i) the
Group’s revenues from external customers
and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and
interests in associates and jointly controlled
entities (“specified non-current assets”).
The geographical location of customers is
based on the location at which the services
were provided or the goods delivered. The
geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of
property, plant and equipment, the location
of the operation to which they are allocated,
in the case of intangible and goodwill, and
the location of operations, in the case of
interests in associates and jointly controlled
entities.

14. DEER(E)

(b)

Revenues from
external customers

TREFIEBOAKERBINSEFLZ
Was e (i) ARBYE - BB R&E - &
WEE B URRBEARRLR
zHER  RE((HEFRBDEEZ
WELEER - FFZHRUERRE
RERBHNEEY 2 B TRE 5
EFRBEEZMRUERRE(NEY
X BELRBEEEEMEME -
(MBEFEERBDE)EORL LB
B AR (BN E A B R AEEESE
L) L EMEMME o

Specified

non-current assets

REHNBESE 2k REERBEE

2009 2008 2009 2008
—BBAE —TT)\F —BEAE —TI)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
BETFT ENTT BETFT BT

Mainland China, including 1 - B8EEER
Hong Kong and Macau JEPY 3,916 21,640 840 1,003
Brunei PES — — 858,151 856,118
Philippines FFEE — — 54,029 81,915
3,916 21,640 = 913,020 939,036
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. Y% - - BERRE
The Group rEE
Plant and
equipment
WER&E
HK$’000
BT
Cost or valuation: A A
At 1 January 2008 RZZTZENFE—HA—H 345
Additions NE 1,088
Disposals & (124)
At 31 December 2008 and RZZEENFEF+—A=+—HK
1 January 2009 —ZETNFE—H—H 1,309
Additions NE 117
Disposals & (14)
At 31 December 2009 RZBEAF+=RA=+—H 1,412
Comprising: B
At 31 December 2008 RZZBENF+=ZRA=+—H
— Cost — A 1,295
— Valuation 2006 — ZET R FHE 14
1,309
At 31 December 2009 RZBEAF+=ZRA=+—H
— Cost — AR 1,412
Depreciation and impairment: ERRAE
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZENEFE—-H—H 143
Provided for the year REE R 262
Written back on disposals k=i (99)
At 31 December 2008 and RZBENF+_A=1+—HK
1 January 2009 —TTNF—A—H 306
Provided for the year REFZEE 280
Written back on disposals SRR (14)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEENF+=—A=+—H 572
Carrying amounts: BREME :

At 31 December 2009 RZZEENFF+=—A=+—H 840
At 31 December 2008 RZZENFF+=ZA=+—H 1,003
The Valuation 2006 was made by directors of the ZEERFHERZEENF A=+ —HAR

Company on a continued existing use basis as at NRAERIRSERB AR EE#TT

31 December 2006.
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. Y% WERRE(E)
(Continued)
The Company P N/NE|
Plant and
equipment
WERRE
HK$’000
EBEF T
Cost or valuation: AR EE
At 1 January 2008 RZEZTN\F—H—H 67
Additions NE 174
At 31 December 2008 and RZBENF+_A=1+—HK
1 January 2009 —TTNF—A—H 241
Disposals & (14)
At 31 December 2009 RZZBEAF+=ZRA=+—H 227
Comprising: BAE
At 31 December 2008 RZBZNF+ZA=+—H
— Cost — PR 227
— Valuation 2006 — —ETREME 14
241
At 31 December 2009 RZBEThF+A=+—H
— Cost — PR 227
Depreciation and impairment: PrEE RIR(E
At 1 January 2008 RZEZENEFE—-—H—H 23
Provided for the year NEE 59
At 31 December 2008 and RZZEENFEF+—A=+—HK
1 January 2009 —ZEThFE—H—H 82
Provided for the year RNEERAE 44
Written back on disposals R SRR (14)
At 31 December 2009 RZZBZENFF+=ZA=+—H 112
Carrying amounts: BREME :

At 31 December 2009 RZBEAF+=RA=+—H 115
At 31 December 2008 RZZENF+=ZA=+—H 159
The Valuation 2006 was made by directors of the —EEAFHER_FEAFTZA=T—RAR

Company on a continued existing use basis as at NRIESEFERARGREREET

31 December 2006.
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16. Investments in Subsidiaries

16. RHIBARZRE

The Company

¥ /N
2009 2008
—EThEF ZEEN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEFT
Unlisted shares, at cost FEEMRG - B 24,895 24,895
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December RZZBZNF+-A=1+—H  HAXEB %

2009, which materially affect the Group’s results or

net assets, are set out in note 38.

17. Interests in Associates

IBEIAKIESS ©

17. REE QTR

BRFEERBEATEZIENBARZHF

The Group
TEE

2009

“EBEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BYEFT B FT
At the beginning of the year REH) 81,915 —

Acquisition — share of fair value of net Wi — LS AR FEE

assets of associates ZAFE — 81,915
Share of results of associates i) NI E (5) —
Impairment loss VERIEY, SEi= (34,265) —
At the end of the year JICEHES 47,645 81,915
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17. Interests in Associates (Continued) 17. REEE N RIER(EZ)
Place of Attributable equity
incorporation/ Registered interest held by
operation capital the Group Principal activities
T2 AfEE EEARERA 2 RE TEXK
2009
It = Yk
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B 5E3 LS ik
Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.  Philippines ~ PHP2,500,000 40% 24% 40% 24%  Coal mining
FaE 2,500,0005% BRI R
Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. ~ Philippines  PHP2,500,000 40% - 40% — Investment holding

EEE 2,500,000 % RELR
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17. Interests in Associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of
associates are set out below:

Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.

17. RBEARER(E)

BRBERR 2 HBERBRIT -

Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.

12 December 2008
(date of

Year ended acquisition) to

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

—ZEENF

BZ +=-HA+=H

—EENEF (WEEEHE) =

+=—HA=+—8H —TENF

LHEE +=—A=+—8”

HK$°000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Turnover e = =
Loss for the year/period NEE/HEERE — 201
Loss attributable to the Group AEBEELEE = 81

As at As at
31 December 2009 31 December 2008
R-BEAE =
+t=A=+—8H

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Total assets BB E 8,973 3,370

Total liabilities el (8,798) (5,748)

Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/ (ARE) 175 (2,378)
Net assets/ (liabilities) attributable REBEREFEE

to the Group (BE) 70 (951)
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17. Interests in Associates (Continued) 17. REEE N RIER(EZ)
Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. and its Eastern Star Mining and Power Corp. X H
subsidiary {OVEERNG|

12 December 2008

(date of

Year ended acquisition) to

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

ZEZE)N\F

+=—A+=H

(WEBH) =

=T N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Turnover EERE = =
Loss for the year/period RNEE HREEE (13) (187)
Loss attributable to the Group AEFEGER (5) (75)

As at As at

31 December 2009 31 December 2008

R-BENEF R-TENF

+=A=+-A  +-A=+—A

HK$’000 HK$’000

B F T BT T

Total assets B E 8,945 3,354
Total liabilities BEE (8,630) (5,586)
Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/(AfE) 315 (2,232)

Net assets/(liabilities) attributable
to the Group

REEREFEE
(BfE) 126 (893)
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18. Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities

18.

RARZEHEEER

The Group
rEHE
2009
ZEBEAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
At the beginning of the year REA] 856,118 3,143,824
Adjustment arising on corporate ESHEEZ AR
restructuring (note (a)) (Hiit(a)) — (2,049,039)
Additional investments FBEINRE 23,604 4,537
Impairment loss (note (b)) BAEEE (K ®b)) (21,571) (243,204)
At the end of the year RELR 858,151 856,118
Notes: Kz -

(a)

The adjustment reflects the reduction of interests
in a jointly controlled entity, which was recognized
on a business combination at 10 October 2007,
after a corporate restructuring exercise effected on
14 April 2008 as mentioned below.

The Group previously held a total of 60%
participating interest in an oil project in Brunei
(the “Brunei Project”) of which 39% represented
non-controlling interest and the remaining 21%
represented effective interest owned by the Group.

On 14 April 2008, the Group completed a
corporate restructuring by disposing of a total of
39% participating interest in the Brunei Project
held by an indirect subsidiary, Chinaoil USA
(Macao) Company Limited (“Chinaoil Macao”), to
the minority shareholders of Chinaoil Macao and
Chinaoil Macao’s immediate holding company,
Polyard Petroleum International Company Limited
(“Polyard Macau”), for the acquisition of share
capital in Chinaoil Macao and Polyard Macau held
by those minority shareholders. Chinaoil Macao
and Polyard Macau then became indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company with the
Group’s effective interest in the Brunei Project
being unchanged at 21%. Details of the corporate
restructuring have been set out in a circular of the
Company issued to its shareholders on 28 March
2008.

(a)

ZHBERBR TRAESHAEIN_FZTN
FOA+TEOEERR  RARZEHEEERS
(ERAREN_—ZTLF+ A+ BEBAHE
HERIFD

AEBRFANFAHBER(XHEBER DE
H60%2 Bz - & 39% 4 IF 14 il 1 2
W MBS T21%B ARNEBES 2 ERF
f‘éo

RZZZENFMA+MA  AEEZEBHE
mEEMNEARTREESAMERCRM)E
RARTHERPM DRXFEBAEB AR
39% 2 HER THERMEHBRMZE
EERARBAAHERAERAR(EHR
FI1) » AMREE 3% 5 D BUR SR PR 5 2 R B R P
REMRFZEAR  EREFEAES - B
BORPIR A ERFIBAK AR R 2 EES
EMBAR - MARERXFRR ZERE
BEFDE - IR21% - CEERFH 25
BEAREARAR_ZEZENF=A=+/\H
TBETERRZBH -
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18. Interests in Jointly Controlled Entities 18. REFEHERER(E)

(Continued)

(b)  The valuation of the Brunei Project as at 31 b) REZEXEFHEMTEZEFTEERA A
December 2009 was US$524,581,000 (2008: Gz HE XEBEBER-_ZZHF
US$522,660,000), as per a valuation prepared + = B =+ — B 2 4 & &524,581,000
by Greater China Appraisal Limited, a firm of ¥ (= T T )\ £ :522660,000%E
professional valuers, of which approximately =y, # 49110.162.000 S = ==
US$110,162,000 (2008: US$109,758,600), =) i (TG IEA0IES IEE -

. : J\ % :109,758,600% T(#H & 1 4 &
equivalent to approximately HK$859,264,000 s e 2 = o
(2008: HK$856,117,080) was attributable to 859‘264‘0097Eg(: = ; N ﬁi‘”—/ -
the interests held by the Group, resulting in an 85?*117'0807@ “ﬁgmfﬁﬁﬁh%f“? ' %
impairment loss of approximately HK$21,571,000 BHR-_FFNFT_A=1T—HLRRES
at 31 December 2009 (2008: HK$243,204,000). BB 21,571,000 T(ZFZT)\F : B

243,204,0007C) °
19. Deferred Exploration Expenditure 19. EIERIIRBE X

The Group

2009

REME

—EThEF

HK$’000

JB¥EF T

At cost bi2dD %N 6,384

Impairment losses BIEEE =

Net carrying amount BRMEFE 6,384
Reconciliation of movements: EpHER ¢

At the beginning of the year REH) —

Amount recognized BEEREHE 6,384

At the end of the year RELL 6,384

Ultimate recoupment of this expenditure is
dependent upon the continuance of the Group’s
right to tenure of the areas of interest and the
discovery of commercially viable oil and gas
reserves, their successful development and
exploitation, or, alternatively, sale of the respective
areas of interest at an amount at least equal to
book value.

=

REEEUREZAX DB FAEEERER
WEZENZ BN  BRABERThHR#EE
ZBEBRER - ARINFE IR - SR&DH
ENREEZeBHEEMERBEME -
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19.

20.

Deferred Exploration Expenditure
(Continued)

Impairment losses are provided for when the
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

Exploration expenditure is written off and any
related impairment losses released when permits
are relinquished or disposed of.

Business Combination

On 12 December 2008, Polyard International
Mining Co. Ltd (“PIM”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, acquired 100% equity interest
in Mexford Holdings Limited (“Mexford”) at a
total consideration of HK$120,000,000, satisfied
by convertible bonds at a total amount of
HK$120,000,000 issued by the Company, of which
convertible bonds of HK$108,000,000 were issued
on 29 December 2008 and convertible bonds of
HK$12,000,000 were issued on 4 February 2009.

19.

20.

EERNRBA S (4F)

REREERE A B S5 - RELRERE
B -

RERERXLEFAER - HRFA SR -
i E R AR RERE B 18 R R [ -

EBast

R=ZZZNF+=ZA+=B ' ARFZE
ENBEAREEBEBEEERAR(EH
Bl B 7 2 |) Uk B Mexford Holdings Limited
([Mexford ) 2 100% P& #E - 48 1% (& A& 6 &
120,000,000 7T ' AARRE HTHBAES
# 120,000,000 T2 AR EH M - EH B
108,000,000 7T 2 AR EHF N T ZNF
+=— A=+ NBETT W% 12,000,000 T
ZHBBRESFAR -_TTNE=-AMBET -
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20. Business Combination (Continued)

Mexford (which held 40% interest in Eastern Star
Mining and Power Corp. and 64% effective interest
in Great Wall Mining and Power Corp.) became
a subsidiary of the Company and the acquisition

20. ¥B66t(E2)

Mexford (¥ 7% Eastern Start Mining and
Power Corp. 2 40%% z= M Great Wall
Mining and Power Corp. 2 64% & # a5 ) B
READAZHWBERR - MKBEARIIEESE

was accounted for as a business combination and BERETEMT -
measured as follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount
before Fair value
combination  adjustment Fair value
HREAT
REBEAT
ZEREE - ATFEHAR AFE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETFT BT BT
Net assets acquired: FTiiE 2 FEE ¢
Interests in associates REE QRS — 81,915 81,915
Amounts due from associates P ST BSE 5  RI RIE 4,545 — 4,545
Amounts due to a shareholder FERH R R A (4,496) = (4,496)
Amounts due to associates JE B 4 A B FRIA (174) = (174)
(125) 81,915 81,790
Total cost on business combination ¥R A HERA 120,000
Goodwill arising on business combination (& &HEEZEHE
(note a) (Hisza) 38,210
Note: Kt -

(@) The assets of Mexford are primarily the interests
in associates which had been measured at their
fair value on 12 December 2008. Accordingly,
the goodwill arising on business combination of

Mexford was immediately impaired.

(a)

Mexford 2 EEEXEARBE NG #ER O
BRERZBEENE+-_A+=-B2ATEEE
£ o At Mexford REKAHRELEZHE

AN RE -
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21.

22,

Amounts due from Subsidiaries 21. EWMELQTFRE

The Company

VNN
2009
—EEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BB F T
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGBS 742,934 738,677
Impairment losses B8 (149,478) —
593,456 738,677
The amounts are unsecured and non-interest IHWRIBAERIF R R E o AR RESZRNR
bearing. The Company has no intention to demand ERB—FANER - BB REHEAIERED
repayment within 1 year after the reporting date BE °
and the amounts are therefore classified as non-
current assets.
Amounts due from Associates and 22, EWEBEQATRAREHERNRE

Jointly Controlled Entities

The Group
TEE
2009
—BEAF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEF T B TFT
Amounts due from associates JE Bt 8 X B FRIE 7,603 4,731
Amounts due from jointly controlled entities i 4 £t [7)#22 5 & 82 71 1A — 1,341
7,603 6,072
The amounts due from associates and jointly FE U BS: = A A R R 12 ) BB 2 RIE AR R
controlled entities are unsecured and non-interest BB REREFEKE -

bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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23. Trade and Other Receivables

The Group has a policy of allowing average
credit periods ranging from 2 weeks to 1 month
to its trade customers. In additions, for certain
customers with long-established relationship and
good past repayment histories, a longer credit
period may be granted.

23. BUWERRR HAiEUKIR

AEBZBRBGTEEGEPNFMBEZ—
BAZ RS - I ETERUEAH
7 YERIFBEEFRE TS  AIEER
Z AR ©

The Group The Company
rEE NN

2009 2008 2009 2008

—EEAE ZZT)N\F ZBBEAF ZTINF

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

BT BT BT  BETT

Trade receivables JE U BR K 65 — — —
Other debtors, deposits and  E.{th jE U k8 -

prepayments e RIENFIA 940 1,075 752 582

1,005 1,075 752 886
An aged analysis of trade FEW AR TR 2 R

receivables is as follows: DHTIAT -
30 — 60 days 30 £ 60K 65 - - -

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to
be impaired is as follows:

REHSRE

Neither past due nor impaired

I IE1E Bl 3k R 1R A B 2 FE UK BR 7 2 BR %
DT -

The Group The Company
rEH AN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—BERF —TT)\F —BBAF —TT)\4&
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BETT  EBEFT BT
65 — = =
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23. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
are related to a customer for whom there has been
no recent history of default.

None of the prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances are
related to receivables for which there have been
no recent history of default.

24. Cash and Bank Balances

23. EUWRMREMEWRRIEE)

AR HA SRR (E 2 FE M R IR TS R — 5 3 R B4
Resx 2 BFEAR

BEBENFKR - REREMBUARE I
ERE - LlESReE M BEED R
IRk R B -

Cash at banks and SRIT M E A& R
other financial institutions WeiEIE &
Cash in hand FHEBE®

24. BEeRIBITHSR
The Group The Company
FEE AT

2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENF —EELE —TT)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000
BETFT EETT BETT BETT
3,066 6,445 70 10
146 155 — —

3,212 6,600 70 10
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25. Trade and Other Payables 25. EAEREMRREMESRKIE
The Group The Company
rEE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EEAF ZZT)N\F ZBBEAF ZTITNF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT GBETFr  EETFT
Other creditors and accrued  E.{th B~ 5078 &
charges BT &R 5,216 14,902 1,097 1,551
Amounts due to related JE < A& 75 3R IR
parties 51,414 22,575 —_ —
Amounts due to shareholders J&{AX 5 7018 31,662 9,532 19,801 12,149
Amounts due to associates FE (Bt & A R 5RIE 174 174 — —
88,466 47,183 20,898 13,700

An advance from the Company’s secretary
amounting to approximately HK$650,000, which is
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of
repayment, is included in the other creditors and
accrued charges.

Amounts due to related parties, shareholders
and associates are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment except for an
amount of approximately HK$600,000, included
in the amounts due to related companies, which
is subject to interest charge at a rate of 2% per
annum.

Hitt BN RBEREFTERREREARRME
ZBFRKE 650,000 7T THEET - 2B R

REMNBEARREBERE —"HEHASE
600,000 7T 2 SRIBBRFF K 2%+ B0 fE
NEER  BREERBEQARZKIESYAER
BB REEEEE -
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26. Amount due to a Director

26. EHEEME

27.

The Group The Company
FEE NN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EBAF —TT)\F —BBAF ZTTN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT
LIN Zhang W = 2 = —
The amount due to the director was unsecured, ENEEREAEER e REETERX
interest-free and had no fixed term of repayment. H o
Convertible Bonds 27. ARRES
The Group and the Company AEERAAT
HK$’000
BT
At 1 January 2008 RZEZEN\F—HA—AH 253,211
Liability component of the Convertible Bonds B Z%775 —#t AJ 3% {55 B
Tranche 2 issued B EHBH 54,580
Interest charged [=EECEN)SY 15,878
Interest paid BAFLE (8,291)
At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 RZZEZENF+ZA=+—HBRK
—EThF—-H—H 315,378
Liability component of the Convertible Bonds B 2175 —#LA[ A% &4 B
Tranche 1 issued aEHBH 7,110
Interest charged B EURR 25,008
Interest paid [=EEIES) (8,291)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+=_A=+—H 339,205
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27.

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

The convertible bonds issued to Mr. Lam Nam
(the “Bondholder 1”) at a nominal value of
HK$276,352,231 for a term of 36 months on 10
October 2007 (the “Convertible Bonds A”) are
subject to interest charge at the rate of 3% per
annum accrued on a day to day basis.

The Bondholder 1 may at any business day after
the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds A
convert the whole or any part at an amount in an
integral multiple of HK$100,000 of the principal
amount of the Convertible Bonds A into ordinary
shares of HK$0.002 each in the share capital of
the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.43
per conversion share. The conversion price
has been adjusted from HK$0.43 per share to
HK$1.792 per consolidated share, with effect from
16 March 2010 as a result of the rights issue and
share consolidation. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 18 March 2010.

The Bondholder 1 had served a notice dated 31
December 2009 to the Company that (i) he will
not exercise his right to convert the whole or part
of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
A into shares of the Company at any time during
the conversion period up to the maturity date of
10 October 2010 (the “Maturity Date”); (ii) he will
agree to the extension of the conversion period of
the Convertible Bonds A upon maturity to a date
no earlier than 31 March 2011; and (iii) he will
not demand repayment of the principal amount of
the Convertible Bonds A by the Company on or
before 31 March 2011 if the conversion period of
the Convertible Bonds A is not extended at the
Maturity Date.

27.

R ES(E)

R-_ZEELF+A+H - AlRES TR
&5 A IRTEES 276,352,231 TTEETT 4K
mEE(EHFFEA1]) - AHAS6MEA  &F
= 3% FHRZEF B °

BEEEA A TRBITAIRRESA B HBRE
A& 2 B iR Al AR &5 A R £ 588 % 100,000
T EREHZ0HE  RAREEREERNG
B 0.43 T K 2 E s A B 5 AR A B K
AR EREESE0.002 T2 L@ - ARE
THEEBRDEH B2 —ZFF=H+, B
B HBREEHEBRBE0I4STAEETER
AR EE1.792 - EAFBERLHAR
AR-_ZE—TE= A+ N\BREZ M -

BEEBRAEABR_ZETAE+_A=+—8
MARBREBA - () EBF TSR EREH
FEHBH(ZE—ZF+A+H  [FHBE DA
R B T4 0 AR AT AR B 55 A 2 2 B sk
HRACEARRRRD  ()EBRERE
HRNERATBRREFAZHBPETER S
——F=A=+—HZHH : (i) fH T 2K
BEAZZBEREBETELE - Hi5Tg
R_E——F=ZA=1+—HBkZATERkA QT
BEARRESAZAREHE -
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27.

Convertible Bonds (Continued)

The fair value of the liability component of the
Convertible Bonds A is measured using a market
interest rate of approximately 6.25% for an
equivalent non-convertible bond; the remaining
balance, representing the equity conversion
component, is included in shareholders’ equity
under convertible bonds reserve.

The Company also issued convertible bonds
at a nominal value of HK$120,000,000 at zero
coupon interest of which the HK$108,000,000
(the “Tranche 2”) was issued on 29 December
2008 and HK$12,000,000 (the “Tranche 1”) was
issued on 4 February 2009 to China International
Mining Holding Company Limited (the “Bondholder
2”), an investment holding company beneficially
owned by Mr. Lam Nam for a term of 5 years (the
“Convertible Bonds B”).

The Bondholder 2 may at any business day falling
on the fifth anniversary from the issue date of the
Convertible Bonds B convert the whole or any part
at an amount in an integral multiple of HK$100,000
of the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds B
into ordinary shares of HK$0.002 each in the share
capital of the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.048 per conversion share. The conversion
price has been adjusted from HK$0.048 per share
to HK$0.216 per consolidated share, with effect
from 16 March 2010 as a result of the rights issue
and share consolidation. For details, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 18 March
2010.

The fair values of the liability component of the
Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 of the Convertible Bonds
B are measured using a market interest rate of
approximately 11.02% and 14.62% respectively for
an equivalent non-convertible bond; the remaining
balance, representing the equity conversion
component, is included in equity under convertible
bonds reserve.

27.

R ES(E)

TR ER AR ERG2ATEDRARSE
IR E % 2 PRI 46.25% 5 ¢ B4
FER AR « ToRE A TR S R 2 IR
W -

KA 7] 8% E B 7S 5 120,000,000 JT [A] 7R 7
EEBERMAZREER AR T EBRRESE
ERBERAGERFEA2NETZTES
ZABRBEESF(ATBRKRESB])(HREE
108,000,000 T([F=H# R =ZFZENF+=
A=+ N B%17 % %&% 12,000,000 ([ 5 —
DR -_ZETHAFE-_AFMBET)  FHAS
fﬁo

BEERBB A REITAIRRESRBRAAE
FrAMNEEBRITBRRESFBEASEELE
100,000 T2 EEBHZEHE  RRBRES
% 5 R0 7 5 0.048 JT 5 B 2 SR (R BF 1D
BAR R R R EESE0.002 T2 L@
B o ARETTHRBREROEH BT —TF
=A+AHR - RBEEHAFRE0.048 T
AEEEREHIRMGBE0.216 T - BEFE
FL2HARRRZE—ZEF=A+N\BHEZ
Aff o

FHRE_SIMRESBABHRH AT
BETYIRABRFIETRRES 2 5 FIES B4
11.02% 2 14.62% 5T & + &R 5 1 7 a0 5 R &
7 et AT R ESFFEE RN -
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28.

NEF= A=+~ AR

Deferred Taxation

The major deferred tax liabilities recognised and

28. ELEHIF
#$¢F&iﬁ&¢ﬁﬁﬁwu2§ﬁ ERIR A E

movements thereon during the current and prior HEFHHPamT :
years are summarized below:
The Group and the Company AEBRAAT
Convertible
bonds
AR E S
HK$’000
JBEMF T
At 1 January 2008 RZZEZEN\F—HA—AH 3,479
Charge to equity for the year REEHNR B 8,780
Credit to profit or loss for the year AEZFTABZE (1,252)
RZBZNF+ZA=+—HK
At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 —ZETNF—HR—H 11,007
Charge to equity for the year REEMG B 806
Credit to profit or loss for the year RNEETABE (2,758)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEENF+ZA=1+—H 9,055

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
the financial statements in respect of tax losses
of approximately HK$7,491,000 (2008: Nil) of
both the Group and the Company available to
offset future profits due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams against which the asset can
be utilised. The unrecognised deferred tax asset
of both the Group and the Company in respect
of deductible temporary difference attributable
to unused tax losses as at 31 December 2009
amounted to approximately HK$1,236,000 (2008:
Nil).

There are no other significant deferred tax assets
not recognised at the reporting date.

No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised
in the financial statements of the Group and the
Company as the Group and the Company did not
have material taxable temporary difference as at
31 December 2009 and 2008.

MR REETERE S A RIS F IR AL E T
VA8 - Sl 4 5t AT T HE 88 R 28 A1) 2 B 7S 1
BH B 7,491,000 T(ZZEZTNF « F)RAK
E@&ZK A IS HMARERELEHIBEE

ZETNFF+ZA=+—8  AEERAA
aﬁﬂiﬁxik%bﬁﬁwr%éﬁa}mﬁﬂu%ﬁaHv%
ERERZIEETIAE EA =B 1,236,000 7T
(ZZENF &) -

M2 A H

o

 BEEMRERENRLERAE

i

HRAEERARRAR _ZEAFR_ZFEN
FHoAZT - HAAESRAERREEER -
B BN AR E RARF 2 P MR R IRE

MIRRIE °
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29. Share Capital

29.

@S

Number of shares Amount
gy 4=
2009 2008 2009
—BBAE  —TT/\F —BRAF
‘000 000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FiE T EBEFT BEFT
Authorised: JETE
Ordinary shares of BREEEE
HK$0.002 each 0.002 70,2
L
— At beginning and end — REIK
of the year FR 10,000,000 10,000,000 20,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRAR
Ordinary shares of BREESE
HK$0.002 each 0.002 70,2
il
— At beginning and end — RETR
of the year FIR 5,408,000 5,408,000 10,816 10,816
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30. Reserves 30. f#fE
The Group AEE
Convertible
Share Special  Exchange Retained Warrant bonds
premium reserve reserve profits reserve reserve Total
2R 4
BOREE  REIRE Eifie  REEA BERE  E5EE h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETn  BEfr EEFn BETn BEFn EEFL BETx
At 1 January 2008 RZZT\E-A-H 359,974 985 209 456,795 4423 17,730 840,116
Total comprehensive income for ~ AEE2 A AR
the year - - 75 (316,756) - - (316,681)
Issuance of convertible bonds on WM A AlfER
acquisition of interests in a Mg ARES
subsidiary — — - — — 53,420 53,420
Deferred tax liabilties on issue of ~ /TR ER2Z
convertible bonds ERERERE - - - - - (8,814) (8814)
Deferred tax effect on change in -~ FE2E) 2 ETHE
tax rates 72 - - - - - 34 34
Release of exchange reserve on ~ HEHERAZ
disposal of a subsidiary AR - - (269) - - - (269)
At 31 December 2008 RIZENEFTZA
=t-H 359,974 985 15 140,039 4,423 62,370 567,806
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30. f#E(E)

The Group E
Convertible
Share Special  Exchange Retained Warrant bonds
premium reserve reserve profits reserve reserve Total
2R TaR
RVEE  HRIEE  ERRE  REEA 0 BRERE  E3EE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AEFr  BETn BEFn B¥fn BEFn BETa BEFx
At 1 January 2009 RZZENE-A-A 359,974 985 15 140,039 4,423 62,370 567,806
Total comprehensive income for ~ AFE2ENGEEE
the year — — - (95,157) — — (95,157)
Issuance of convertible bonds ERARRESNZH
to satisfy balance of WERB AT
consideration for acquisition of ~ EEZKEEH
interests in a subsidiary — — — — — 4,890 4,890
Deferred tax liabilties on issue of &7/ ESZ
convertible bonds Ethieak = - - - - (806) (806)
Release of warrant reserve upon 7 EHARE BT
lapse of exercise period DREEEE - - - 4,423 (4423) = =
At 31 December 2009 RIBRAETZA
=t+-H 359,974 985 15 49,305 - 66,454 476,733
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30. Reserves (Continued)

30. f#E(E)

The Company RAF
Convertible
Share  Accumulated Warrant bonds
premium losses reserve reserve Total
RfaE ZiEE  IRERGE TRRESEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETR BETR BETR V-lao
At 1 January 2008 R-2E\E-f-A 384,854 (14,3%9) 4423 17,730 392,668
Loss for the year AEEER - (23,583) - - (23,583)
Issuance of convertible bonds on YENBARERTEN
acquisition of interests in a ThRER
subsidiary — — — 53,420 53,420
Deferred tax labilities on issue of EnERES CEEHERE
convertible bonds - - - (8,814) (8,814)
Deferred tax effect on change intax ~ HEEE ELHAE
rates - - — 35 35
At 31 December 2008 RZFT\E+-A=1-A 384,854 (37,922) 4423 62,371 413,726
At 1 January 2009 R-ZENE-A-A 384,854 (37,922) 4423 62371 413,726
Loss for the year AEEER - (178,496) - - (178,496)
Issuance of convertible bonds to ERREFI I IKEHE
satisfy balance of consideration NAERZ KBRS
for acquisition of interests in a
subsidiary - — — 4,890 4,890
Deferred tax liabilities on issue of EnaRES CEEHERRE
convertible bonds — — — (806) (806)
Release of warrant reserve upon lapse TP FEREREAREZRE
of exercise period — 4,423 (4,423) - —
At 31 December 2009 RZEBNETZA=1-H 384,854 (211,995) — 66,455 239,314
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30. f#E(E)

30. Reserves (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) REZIMEREW

(i)  Share premium (i) RGZE
Under the Companies Law (Revised) BIERSHSRAREEBE])E
Chapter 22 of the Cayman lIslands, 22F - NATEZMRH % E R AL
the share premium of the Company DIRSOR AR S T ARER - AR
is available for paying distributions or REAGABERZ MM 2
dividends to shareholders subject to B[E  RREBESIRIEMRKRE
the provisions of its Memorandum or % RNRARIEBREHNEEREBRER
Articles of Association and provided X5 2 B EAERS -
that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company is
able to pay its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

(i) Special reserve (i) HFIFEE
The special reserve represents the I e 1R B AN SR B DA TR 4%
difference between the paid up capital IR A Bl 2 B2 B AR B R R 24 AR
of the previous holding company of ARAROR-ZEZE _FEE B
the Group acquired and the nominal ERGMBRATEIFER EHE
value of the Company’s shares issued TEBESEARKEEEMmET
for the acquisition at the time of the ZARNBRODEELEEE °
group reorganization for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in
2002.

(iii) Exchange reserve (iii) [EZFE

The exchange reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies set out in note

3(1).

EXRERRMARELINEE
MBRERMELZINEZHE -
BIRIRMIEE 3() FT# 2 B FT BB
@ o
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30. Reserves (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(iv) Warrant reserve

(v)

The warrant reserve represents the
net proceeds received and receivable
on issue of warrants to subscribe for
the Company’s shares. The warrant
reserve will be transferred to share
premium when the warrant is exercised
or released to the retained profits when
the warrants remain unexercised at the
expiry date.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve has
been set up and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies
adopted for convertible bonds in note

3(s)(v).

Distributability of reserves

At the balance sheet date, in the opinion
of the directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity owners
amounted to approximately HK$172,859,000
(2008: HK$346,932,000).

(c)

(d)

30. f#E(E)

Rz MERBEN(E)

(iv)

(v)

BREE A

R F R RITRBRER A
REBEAR DA My 2 B 4 5 e W AT
BREFE - RBBEEERBER
RREFETERERERMNDE
BN B REERER B BDR
TERBEDEREER

ERREFHE

THRREFFHECERY IR
MR 3(s)(v) FT L Bt AT R IR fE 5
RN SRR IR ©

A D IR

N

EH BFRAR AaAA#H

DPETFTBREREAZHEELDBBE
172,859,000 L(=— T T )\ F: B &
346,932,0007T) °
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31.

Share Option Schemes

The Company adopted two share option schemes
(hereinafter referred to as the “Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 26 June 2002 for the purpose of providing
incentives to the directors and eligible participants,
under which the Company may grant options to
the directors and employees of the Group and also
other eligible participants to subscribe for shares
of the Company. The schemes became effective
on 12 July 2002 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in effect for 10 years from
that date.

On 26 June 2002, prior to its listing, the Company
granted options to certain executive directors
and employees of the Group to subscribe for an
aggregate of 251,000,000 shares in the Company
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
are the same as the Share Option Scheme as
described below except that:

(i) the eligible participants are confined to
certain directors, senior management,
employees, consultants and advisers of the
Group:

(ii)  there is no minimum subscription price;

(iiiy the general scheme limit, the individual
limit applicable to each proposed grantee
and the restrictions on grant of options to a
connected person do not apply; and

(iv) the directors may only grant options under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme at any
time within a period from 26 June 2002 to 12
July 2002.

31.
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31.

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The share options granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme had either been exercised
or lapsed by 31 December 2008.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include the following:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

any employee or proposed employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which
any member of the Group holds any equity
interest (including any executive director but
excluding any non-executive director of the
Group or any Invested Entity);

any non-executive director (including
independent non-executive director) of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

31.

BRERE(E)
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(iv)
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31.

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise)
or consultant to any area of business or
business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any company wholly owned by one or more
of the eligible participants referred to in (i) to
(vii) above.

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Options granted to substantial
shareholders or independent non-executive
directors or their associates in excess of 0.1%
of the Company’s share capital or with a value
in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 21 days from the date of the
offer. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of each grant. Options may be
exercised at any time during a period which may
commence on a day after the date of grant of
the share options but shall end at any event not
later than ten years from the date of grant of the
options. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares.

31.
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31.

32.

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

Up to 31 December 2009, no options had been
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions at HK$1,000 or
5% of the relevant payroll costs, whichever is the
lower, to the scheme. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in
the People’s Republic of China are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the local government. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

31.

32.
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33. Related Party Transactions

(a)

(b)

(e)

Transactions and balances between the
Company and its subsidiaries, which are
related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not
disclosed in this note.

Remuneration for key management personnel
of the Group, including the Company’s
directors and certain highest paid employees,
is set out in note 10.

Consultancy fee income recognised in
previous year of approximately HK$304,000
represented charges for services rendered to
a jointly controlled entity operated by Polyard
Petroleum International Company Limited in
the Philippines.

Licence fees of approximately HK$120,000
(2008: Nil), which was included in sundry
income, were charged by the Company for
services rendered to a related company,
in which Mr. Lam Nam, the substantial
shareholder of the Company, has material
interest, during the year.

An interest expense of approximately
HK$2,000 (2008: Nil) was charged by a
related company in which Mr. Lam Nam, the
substantial shareholder of the Company, has
material interest, for the advances to the
Group.

An operating lease rental expense of
HK$122,000 (2008: Nil), which was included
in the deferred exploration expenditure, was
charged by a related company in which Mr.
Lam Nam, the substantial shareholder of the
Company, has material interest.

33. MERRS

(a)

(b)

(c)
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33.

34.

Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. BEAXRB(£Z)

(g) During the year, the Group made/received (9) FA - AKECEL/ EEEEALTD
advances to/from related parties. Details and Ko ABERRZZZNF+_A=+—
balances outstanding as at 31 December HZKEEREHRNMH T2 25 %
2009 are disclosed in notes 22, 25 and 26. 26 °

Operating Leases 34. KEHEY

Minimum lease payments paid by the Group as REERFARBCEHOZ N2 RERE

lessee under operating leases during the year:

The Group The Company
A EE 0 7]

HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000
BETFT EETT BT T BETT

Premises S 1,428 2,969 1,076 2,437
At the reporting date, the total commitments RIEER - RS AR 2 A A B R R
for future minimum lease payments under non- BERS 2 @AENT :

cancelable operating leases are as follows:

The Group The Company
AEE NG|

HK$°000 HK$'000  HK$°000 HK$'000
BYTT  BETT W BETT @ BETT

Premises S
— within 1 year — —FR 1,428 1,710 1,076 1,361
— due after 1 year but — —F1&
within 5 years BREA = 1,259 = 1,076

1,428 2,969 1,076 2,437
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35. Capital Commitments 35. BEXREE
At the reporting date, the capital commitments REHRBH - BEIVERNET B RKREE
outstanding contracted for but not provided for in BARBITEARERELT :

these financial statements are as follows:

The Group The Company
AEE AN

HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETT BETT B F T BT T

HE T 3R
Contributions to a jointly b N
controlled entity (note) (Hiaz) 122,166 58,285 — —
Note:  The amount is arrived at after taking into account Wit - B EDNKEERB AT ERRES
a sum of approximately HK$11,141,000 (2008: BEINPHZERERAER XN AH
HK$18,336,000) which has been agreed by the DA E11141,000(ZZEZNF: B
operator of the jointly controlled entity to pay for 18,336,000 7T ) f£ =5 °

the Group according to a farmout agreement.
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 36. AR REXREKEE
Management
(a) Financial risk management (a) HBEKRER
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) BHBIRAZHHE

HK$’000 HK$’000
JBEET T BT T

Financial assets MKEE
Trade and other receivables JFEE UK BR % B L At B W kIR 1,005 1,075

Amounts due from associates and & U H & A =) & H F 24

jointly controlled entities EEERIE 7,603 6,072
Cash and bank balances & MBI TS B4 3,212 6,600
11,820 13,747

Financial liabilities BigasE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR SR R H b FE {5 5RIE 88,466 47,183
Amount due to a director JEREE A = 2
Convertible bonds A[ AR E S 339,205 315,378

427,671 362,563
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

36. MBEARRKERRMBRERE)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) BIHEBREEE)

(b) Financial risk management and

(b) HBEBEZERKE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
are disclosed in section (a) of this
note. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market
risk (foreign currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk and policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

(i)  Market risk management

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain foreign
currency cash and bank balances,
trade and other receivables,
amounts due from associates
and jointly controlled entities,
and trade and other payables
denominated in foreign currencies
other than the respective
functional currencies of the
entities and thus the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk.
The management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider
hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

AEEZ TERBHTARAMRZE
(EEE - BRAZSMBLAZ
=\ e B2 5 7 355 [ B (51 S R e e )
XEE)  FERRERBESR
B MARZFRR ZBRRR T
XEH e EREEERERZS
Bk - NERERETERE

=y

() T EEREE
SN [\ Bk

REBERIAINE(ER
BRAEEERBRINIIEZ
SNEIR & RIRITREER - B
AR AR N H A FE IR IR - R
BN A R ARG B B
TR LA % AN B 3 e L At A
IR 0 F AN S B R AR SN
KRk - BEEFEZRIN
BRE  THREREREZE
BEPINERR
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 36. KRABRERRMEREZ)
Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management and (b) BIBEBEERHE (&)
policies (Continued)
(i) Market risk management (i) THEREREE(E)
(Continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SN R\B (4F)
The carrying amounts of the RmER - NEELAINET
Group’s significant foreign BEAREBKEERERS
currency denominated monetary B REBENAT

assets and monetary liabilities at
the reporting date are as follows:

Assets

BE
HK$ HK$
Renminbi AR 1,200 1,490
Macau Pataca SR P 364 68
Singaporean dollar N T 127 298
United States dollar ETT 1,707 4,415

Liabilities

=L
HK$ HK$
Renminbi AR 587 372
Macau Pataca el 674 18
Singaporean dollar T 27 —

United States dollar =7 2,440 —
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

36. MBEARREXRMBRERE)

MBEBRER(E)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(b)) HEEBEERKE(E)

(i) Market risk management (i) THEREREE(E)
(Continued)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The Group is mainly exposed NEEEEmEE Lot

to the effect of fluctuation in the
above foreign currencies except
for the United States dollars in
which the functional currency is
pegged to. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% increase and decrease in
the functional currency exchange
rates of the Company against
the foreign currencies. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management
personnel and represents
management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes
outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at
the year end for a 5% change in
foreign currency exchange rates.
A positive number below indicates
an increase in profit before tax
and equity for the year where
the functional currency of the
Group strengthens 5% against
the foreign currencies. For a
5% weakening of the functional
currency of the Group against the
foreign currencies, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on
the profit before tax and equity,
and the balance below would be
negative.

(EEIh g & o 2 =T
SN Z R EN R E o R
REBEARNR RN EE K
GNEE 7 [ SR BK 5% 2 BT R
B 5% mMEBEEAS
7R 20 [ 2 SN | B 5 FT 455
ZEHRREH R - EIRER
BR 7 AR e B FTERT
o RRE DT BIELAINE
FIEZ AR BRERKIERE -
I 7 G #R 32 5% 2 SN FE R
BEAEBE o FHRTA
LB 2§ K INEFHE
5% < 2N F [ Bk B ADE F &
I - RAKBEINEE
B ONEE B (B 5% B 0 18 3
IR = e
FHERZZE - M T &%
BAEEEH -
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 36. IKRBRERRMEREZ)
Management (Continued)
(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) HBEREE(E)
(b) Financial risk management and (b)) HIBEBEERBEE)
policies (Continued)
(i) Market risk management (i) THEREREE(E)
(Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRE DT (&)

Profit before tax

R AT F

2009 2008

—BRAE —TT)\F
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BEFT  EETT  BEFT  EETI

Renminbi AR 2 (4) 28 60
Singaporean dollar  ¥7 3% 7T 1 2 — -
(i) Fair value of financial instruments (i) HBEILAZFE

The fair value of financial assets MBEEERMEBE(RIE
and financial liabilities (including MEIA)ZATFEREA
derivative instruments) are REBERN - UBBERARM
determined in accordance with BR 5 ZERNLEERE
generally accepted pricing models 15 - WRBE e R=EE ST
based on discounted cash flow MEE - MAAESTETAE 2
analysis using prices or rates ANFEBRPHAEEERER
from observable current market (A NE — SFRETE)
transactions as inputs. For an LTI o

option-based derivative, the fair
value is estimated using option
pricing model (for example, Black-
Scholes Model).
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(ii)  Fair value of financial instruments
(Continued)

Except as detailed in the following
table, the management considers
that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the consolidated
financial statements approximate
their fair values:

Financial liabilities Bii& &
Convertible bonds  A#Af% (&S

36. MBEARREXRMBRERE)

(a) HIKEREE(E)
(b) HBEEBREERBEE)

(i) BHETAZNFEE)

BT RATFFAES  BEEE
REBNEEMBBRRMER
ZHBEERMBABZE
EEEEQFERS

2009 2008
—EZhEF —ET)N\EF

Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
ARMEE AFE AREE N¥(E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BETT BT T
339,205 367,190 315,378 281,550




Annual Report 2009 =& Z i, £ F 3{

Notes to the Financial Statements

BTSRRI ot

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E_EENFEF = A= —HIFFE

36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 36. IKRBRERRMEREZ)
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued) (a) BHEBREREE)

(b) HHEEBEZERKE(E)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(iii) ~ Credit risk management (i) 1EEEREFE

As at 31 December 2009, the
Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Company due
to failure to perform an obligation
by the counterparties, is the
carrying amount of the respective
recognized financial assets
as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimize the
credit risk in relation to trade
receivables, the management
has strengthened the credit
limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the management
reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at
each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, management
considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is
limited because the majority of
the counterparties are reputable
banks or banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

R-BENFT_A=1—
B AEEMEHZ&SE
BRI EE T REEETT
B AE T E AR R 75 &
18) RERA MR R AT
HHECHERMBEE ZRE
=30

RREBREBEERZEE
Rk EEECNREER
# - EEEHRREMERE
B ARERERENERAETTEN A
WmaER o o B
BRE&EHREAHERTSME
RIEZER AR EISHE
VARER 2 3L A] U [B] 5 B AF
HE SR ERRE - st
5 EHEERAR AKEZ
EERABREARANRE -

HRXHHT AN RER
RiFZRITHEBRREEF
FRBETREENRZE
T BRBERZEERR
BR -



Polyard Petroleum International Group Limited BHHEAHEMREBRER AR

Notes to the Financial Statements

B IEERR Mo

For the year ended 31 December 2009
E_EENFEF A= —HIFFE

36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit risk management
(Continued)

Credit risk is concentrated as to
100% (2008: Nil) of the total trade
receivables that are due from
the Company’s largest customer.
However, the management
considers, based on the strong
financial background and good
creditability of this debtor, there
are no significant credit risks.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity
risk, the management manages
its funds conservatively by
maintaining a comfortable level
of cash and cash equivalents
in order to meet continuous
operational need. Various bank
facilities and credit lines will
be considered to fund any
emergency liquidity requirements.
The Group relies on funds
generated from business
operations as a principal source
of liquidity.

36. MBEARRKERRMBRERE)

(a)

BEERER(E)
(b) HHEEBEZERKE(E)

(i) 1EEEMRERE (&)

A FE AR S4B 88 2 100%
(ZZ2ETN\F : #)HHER
ARAREAHER  BEE
ERREFR o AW EEER
B BERZAEEAZERE
HESERROES  F8
E BRI REK o

(iv) FTEELEGEE

REBRBECRRE - &
BEZBEREHKFEZER
ERREEFEY  RTEE
HES UEMNFELE
FE AKERERZ AR
TREREERE  UARME
MESABDECTFRREHE
T ARBIRERBEEM
EEZES  FRARBER
ZEBERIR
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk management
(Continued)

The following tables detail the
Group’s contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. For
the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal

cash flows.
Effective
interest rate
1,3k
%
%
2009 “EENE

Trade and other payables  EEREHREA
FEfizE
Convertble bonds ikES

36. MBABRERRBER(E)

(a)

BEERER(E)

(b) BIBEBREERBE (&)

On demand or
less than
1 year

BExy
IR-F
HK$'000
V-t i

(iv)

REETEBETE (&)

TRALAKEREM B R
BZAHERIHMBER - 3L
BREZARAUARSREM
T HIEHHEREBEAEE
AXNzZ&EFRHM
REEFNEREES

anp
N\
RS

S I ge=I |

pr¢
=

B —

o

Total
un-  Total carrying

More than discounted amount at
1 year cash flows 31/12/2009

RZESAE
AHEEE  t-A=t-A

SH-%  KEME  2BEME
HK§:000 HKS$:000 HK$'000
BwET ERFT BRFR
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk
Management (Continued)

(a

Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management and

policies (Continued)

36. MBEABRERRBERE)

(a) HBERKREREE)

(b) BIBEBREERBHE (&)

(iv)  Liquidity risk management (iv) REBEZEREE(E)
(Continued)
On demand or Total Total carrying
Effective less than More than  un-discounted amount at
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows 31/12/2008
RIZENF
RERS FhBEE  TZA=T-H
ERHE IR-E SR-F st ZERSE
% HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% BT BETFT BEFT AEFT
2008 ZETNE
Trade and other payables ~ EREHRER
N5 - 47,183 - 47,183 47,183
Amount due to a director  [EFESFUE - 2 - 2 2
Convertible bonds ikES 6.25%
14.62% - 384,352 384,352 315,378
47,185 384,352 431,587 362,563
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 36. IKRBRERRMEREZ)
Management (Continued)

(b) Capital risk management (b) EXERE
The Group’s objectives when managing AEEEBEAZ BNAREASERF
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability BIREZEET  UABRRRERHZE A
to continue as a going concern in order to HAh A BB B R MR o - WA & (=
provide returns for shareholders and benefits BAREEOREERKA

for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of

capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital RERFNARERNEE  AEEIFHE
structure, the Group may adjust the amount ENTFRECKRESRE  REEATR
of dividends paid to shareholders, return R BOHROILEEENRDE
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or % °

sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the HENEMPE - NEBEKFEE
Group monitors capital on the basis of BRI RERER o b ELFEBR
the net debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is R E - FEBARER (BB
calculated as net debt divided by total equity. BEEBBRRAMI T ZRB RIERBER)
Net debt is calculated as total liabilities BRE MRS FEME - BERIEL
(including current and non-current liabilities BTSRRI 2 s ©

as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total
equity represents the equity as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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36. Financial Risk and Capital Risk 36. IKRBRERRMEREZ)
Management (Continued)

(b) Capital risk management (Continued) (b) EXEE(E)
During 2009, the Group’s strategy, which RZZEZNER  AEEZRBE(BEZZF
was unchanged from 2008, was to maintain TN\FREFTIE) BEFESERERL
the net debt-to-equity ratio at an acceptable H@BRAEZKE - RZZZTENFR
level. The net debt-to-equity ratios at 31 T NFT A=+ —BZFEBH
December 2009 and 2008 are as follows: LR ¢
2008
T N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BEFT
Total debts HRIETS 436,727 373,570
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERREEFEEY
(Note 25) (Bt3t25) (3,212) (6,600)
Net debt FE 433,515 366,970
Total equity 1BE 488,113 579,213

Net debt-to-equity ratio SFETS S X 89% 63%
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37. Events after the Reporting Date 37. 2ERBESBHE

On 15 March 2010, the Company convened
an extraordinary general meeting during which
resolutions were passed to approve (i) rights
issue at the subscription price of HK$0.04
(HK$0.20 after the share consolidation)
per rights share on the basis of one rights
share for every two existing shares; and (ii)
share consolidation to consolidate every five
existing issued and unissued shares into one
consolidated share. Details of the rights issue
and share consolidation were published in the
Company’s circular and prospectus issued to its
shareholders on 26 February 2010 and 16 March
2010 respectively.

38. Particulars of Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31
December 2009 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/ Forms of
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity
HEAIER A/ B FEERYA
Kanstar Environmental Technology British Virgin Islands International
Group Limited EBRAES Business
Company
BREHAT
Win Easy International Limited British Virgin Islands International
ABRUEE Business
Company
AREHAT
Polyard Petroleum Resources British Virgin Islands International
Development Inc (formerly known ~ RERZES Business
as Lucky China Investments Inc) Company
Polyard Petroleum Resources BREBAT

Development Inc (B7f&Lucky China
Investments Inc.)

R-ZT—TFE=A+HB  ARABRBRRE
FAE @ LBBAERMEN)REREM
BRIR 8 IR D 3 — BRI IR IR BB IR R B (B
SRLE A1) B85 0.04 7T (ARRD A BHE B I
0.2070 ) #ETTHRE - R()VEEFRABRIREE %
TRARBITRMHEHAE—BREHBROZBRGE
Bt o R ERDEHZFHBDRIRARARRKRZ
T—ZTF-_A_+ARNHEKZE—ZF=ZA+X
B2 T B R 2 R R ERAAMH

38. MBLQRFE

RZZEZNFFTZA=+—H ARRIZIE
ARFEMT
Issued and
fully paid Proportion of nominal value of

share capitall issued capital/registered capital
registered held by the Company
capital* AATREZERARE/
BER EREAAEEELS
HrkRE/ Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
By ER BE IZER
US$1,000 100% —  Investment holding
100X REER
US$1 100% —  Investment holding
E3 RERR
US$1 100% —  Investment holding
E3 REZR
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38. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 38. MIBLARFIE(E)

Issued and
fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
share capitall issued capital/registered capital

registered held by the Company
Place of capital* AATBEZERRE/
incorporation/ Forms of BRER ERERFEEELS
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity ARRE/ Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
HEAIER AR/ EE FEERYA g ER B FEER
Mexford Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands International US$50,000 = 100%  Investment holding
RERIHES Business 50,0007 RERR
Company
AREHAT
Kanstar Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
BERERRAA & Company 71,000,0007 REAR
EREEAT
Addata Development Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$10,000 - 100%  Inactive
NRERERAF & Company %%10,0007C Thes
EREEAT
Modern Lucky International Limited Hong Kong Limited Liability HKS2 - 100%  Investment holding
MERERARAA Bk Company o REABR
ERELAR
Polyard Petroleum (Hong Kong) Limited  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1 — 100%  Trading
BRAR (B#) BRAA &5 Company BT 2%
BREEAT
EZARRR TERAF PRC Limited Liability RMB1,000,000 = 51%  Trading of
hE Company AR petroleum-
BREEAT 1,000,000 related products
EERMARER
Polyard Petroleum International Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited i Company 10,000,000 RERR
BEARERERAR BREEAT R
China Sino Qil Co., Ltd. Macau Limited Liability MOP10,000,000 - 100%  Petro-chemical
HERERBERAR A Company 10,000,000 product dealing
BRAERTA Rz BRI IER
Sinotech Polyard Petroleum Exploration  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$100,000 - 60%  Investment holding
& Development Research Institute &% Company 751100,00070 RARR
Limited (formerly known as Polyard EREAAT

Resources Company Limited)
PR ARRRERA AR AR AT
(MREAERERAA)
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38. Particulars of Subsidiaries (Continued) 38. MIBLARFIE(E)
Issued and

fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
share capitall issued capital/registered capital

registered held by the Company
Place of capital* AATREZERORE/
incorporation/ Forms of BEI EREAREEELS
Name of subsidiary operation legal entity HERE/ Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
WEARAR e/ g EERREA ifEs BER BE IEXH
Polyard International Mining Company  Hong Kong Limited Liability HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited &k Company 75%1,000,0007C RARR
BRERERARAH BRRAAT
Polyard Petroleum Philippines Philippines Limited Liability PHP10,000,000 - 100%  Mineral and energy
Company Limited Inc. FeE Company 10,000,000%% related business
EREEAT Bl e
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt RELR  BENB AR BITERESES °

securities at the end of the year.
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The summarised consolidated results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements of the
Group, are set out below:

Results

REBRBELMPBFREZREEE BERE
B MEB(HFEAEE 2 RFRMB®RE) M
T~

ES

St

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1+—HLEE

2008
AN S
HK$°’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT B F T BT T BETFIT
(Restated)
(&%)
Turnover EER 53,671 43,295 50,378 21,640
Profit/(loss) attributable fE{h %],/ (E518)
— Owners of the R YNGIE/ 2= PN
Company 103 (18,428) 473,961  (316,756)
— Non-controlling — FEVE IR A
interests — — (846) (1,936)
103 (18,428) 473,115 (318,692)
Assets and Liabilities EEREE

At 31 December
R+=B=+—H
2007
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
B F T BB F T B F T BT T B TFIT
(Restated)
(&%)
Total assets B E 85,237 288,088 3,224,574 952,783
Total liabilities BaE (30,059) (34,857) (356,970) (373,570)
Net assets FEE 55,178 253,231 2,867,604 579,213
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